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www.iita.org

International mailing address
IITA, Grosvenor House, 125 High Street

Croydon CR0 9XP, UK

Headquarters
PMB 5320, Oyo Road, Idi-Oshe

Ibadan, Nigeria
Tel.: +1 201 6336094,

+234 7008004482,
Fax.: +44 (208) 711 3786 (via UK)

Statement of the Board Chair 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
The mission of International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) is to be the leading research partner 
facilitating agricultural solutions to overcome hunger, poverty and natural resource degradation 
throughout Tropical Africa. The strategy of the Institute established a goal of lifting 11 million people 
out of poverty and revitalizing 7.5 million hectares of degraded land by 2020. The Board of Trustees is 
committed to provide governance, financial and programmatic oversight to ensure efficient and effective 
management of the Institute. 

2020 was a challenging year for IITA, with the impact of the Covid 19 Pandemic causing difficulties and 
delays in the delivery many projects and putting a financial strain on the Institute. IITA responded to the 
challenge by implementing a programme of graduated salary cuts, cost containment measures and an 
active programme of attracting donor sponsored projects. 

Despite the difficulties posed by the pandemic, IITA delivered a strong financial performance in 2020. 
Total revenue amounted to US$87.7 million (2019: US$100.1 million) against expenditure of US$87.3 
million (2019: US$99.6 million). The Institute’s liquidity and reserve levels improved with cash reserves 
increasing from $7.2 million to $7.6 million and days reserves increasing from 29.4 to 48.8 days, although 
this was also impacted by lower level of daily expenditures due to the pandemic. The 2020 audited financial 
statements show an operating result of US$0.4 million. The Board recognizes the continuing need to 
increase reserves and expense days coverage and will continue to work with management to develop 
action plans to improve days coverage to a desirable level. 

In 2020, the move to One CGIAR gathered real momentum. With an ambitious aim to further integrate 
CGIAR’s assets, partnerships, and operations to deliver greater impact, One CGIAR will ensure that we 
can fully and effectively respond to new and emerging global challenges. 

As part of this transformation, in January, a Transition Consultation Forum was formed to allow for multi-
stakeholder input and advice on the transition, along with thematic Transition Advisory Groups and a 
Transition Program Management Unit. 

Also, in 2020, welcome steps toward unified governance under One CGIAR were made. The System 
Board was reconstituted in September, at which time the three members of the Executive Management 
Team (‘EMT’) began their tenure. The EMT will further steer the transition to One CGIAR, under the 
oversight of the System Board. 

A major milestone in 2020 was the development and approval by the System Council in December of 
the new CGIAR 2030 Research and Innovation Strategy and the CGIAR Performance and Results 
Management Framework, which constitute a bold and relevant framework for research and results with 
the potential for transformative change. 

In 2021 the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic will continue to be felt throughout Africa and in the 
operations of IITA and the Board is committed to continuing to adopt measures to protect the Institute 
and develop African agriculture. 

The Board of Trustees expresses its appreciation to the Management and staff of IITA for the excellent 
research and delivery activities conducted during 2020, attraction of new partners, and funding, and 
the effective financial and administrative management of the Institute’s resources. Finally, the Trustees 
express deep appreciation to IITA’s investors and partners for their contributions to the Institute’s mission 
of reducing hunger and poverty in Africa. 

Christian Borgemeister 
Chair, IITA Board of Trustees 
15 April 2021
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Headquarters
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Ibadan, Nigeria
Tel.: +1 201 6336094,

+234 7008004482,
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BOARD STATEMENT ON IITA RISK MANAGEMENT - 2020 

The Center’s Board of Trustees has responsibility for overseeing the effectiveness of the risk 
management system that IITA management has put in place to identify, manage, and monitor 
significant risks to the achievement of IITA’s business objectives, and to ensure alignment with 
CGIAR principles and guidelines that have been adopted by all CGIAR Centers. 
 
These risks include operational, financial, and reputational risks that are inherent in the nature, 
modus operandi, and location of IITA’s activities and dynamics of the environment in which IITA 
operates. Together, they represent the potential for loss resulting from external events, human 
factors, or inadequate or failed internal policies, processes or systems. 
 
To these ends, the Board has adopted a risk management policy and risk mitigation practices, that 
have been communicated to all staff, that include a risk framework by which IITA management 
identifies, evaluates, and prioritizes risks and opportunities across the organization; assigns 
risk owners and develops risk mitigation strategies (including internal controls), which balance 
benefits with costs; and monitors the implementation of these strategies and reports semi-
annually to the Audit Committee of the Board on results. During 2020 the management continued 
to review and further develop existing risk management strategies and guidelines to ensure the 
risk management system in IITA is comprehensive and relevant and continues to be in line with 
best practice. 
 
The Board will monitor and review progress on an ongoing basis as the IITA management seeks 
to deepen the implementation of the risk management framework, focus attention on higher 
priority risks. The Board notes that the effectiveness of risk management depends not only on 
the identification of the risks but the implementation of effective mitigation plans. The Board 
continues to assure itself that risk management is effective and sustained. 
 
With regards to IITA’s 2020 financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control specific 
to financial reporting, the Board notes management’s assertion in its 2020 Management 
Letter of Representation (provided to the external auditors) and Management’s Statement of 
Responsibility for Financial Reporting included as part of the annual Financial Statements.

Christian Borgemeister 
Chair, IITA Board of Trustees 

15 April 2021
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Report of Management
International mailing address

IITA, Grosvenor House, 125 High Street
Croydon CR0 9XP, UK

Headquarters
PMB 5320, Oyo Road, Idi-Oshe

Ibadan, Nigeria
Tel.: +1 201 6336094,

+234 7008004482,
Fax.: +44 (208) 711 3786 (via UK)

Report of Management

The accompanying financial statements of IITA are the responsibility of management 
and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as prescribed for all international research centers seeking assistance from the 
CGIAR.

IITA maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly executed_ IITA's Internal Audit 
system provides ongoing evaluations of the adequacy, effectiveness and adherence to 
management's established policies and procedures. The Board of Trustees exercises 
its fiduciary responsibility for these financial statements through its Audit & Finance 
Committee.

The Audit & Finance Committee, composed of Board of Trustees members who are not 
officers of the Institute, meets with the independent auditors, management and internal 
auditors periodically to discuss internal accounting controls, auditing and financial 
reporting matters. The Committee reviews, with the independent auditors, the scope 
and results of the audit effort.

The accompanying report is based on an audit by the independent accounting firm of 
Deloitte & Touche.

Nteranya Sanginga	 Dennis Mulenga
Director General	 Director of Finance

26 April, 2021
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Independent Auditor’s report 
To the Trustees of the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, set out on 
pages 8 to 50, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December, 2020, statement of 
activities and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets, statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the International 
Institute of Tropical Agriculture as at 31 December, 2020 and its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the CGIAR 
reporting guidelines. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Institute in accordance with the requirements 
of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA code) and the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria Professional Code of Conduct and Guide for Accountants (ICAN Code) 
and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Nigeria. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and ICAN Code, and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in Nigeria. The ICAN Code is 
consistent with the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A 
and B). 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information 
The board of trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Statement of the Board Chair, Board statement on IITA risk management 2020, Report of management and 
supplementary information. The other information does not include the financial statements and our report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard 

Responsibilities of the trustees and those charged with governance for the Financial Statements 
The trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the IFRS compliant CGIAR reporting guidelines, and 
for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the Institute’s ability to 

P.O. Box 965
Marina 
Lagos 
Nigeria

Deloitte & Touche
Civic Towers
Plot GA 1, Ozumba Mbadiwe Avenue
Victoria Island
Lagos
Nigeria

Tel: +234 (1) 904 1700
www.deloitte.com.ng
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continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the institute or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Institute’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the trustees. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Institute to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements We expressly state that: 

i)	 We have obtained all the information and explanation which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

ii)	 The Institute have kept proper books of account, so far as appears from our examination of those books. 
iii)	 The Institute’s financial position and its statement of activities and other comprehensive income are in 

agreement with the books of account and returns. 
 

Folorunso Hunga, FCA, FRC/2013/ICAN/00000001709
For: Deloitte and Touche 
Chartered Accountants 
Lagos, Nigeria 
26 April, 2021 

List of partners and partner equivalents available on the website 
Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Statement of Financial Position 

as at 31 December, 2020

Statement of Financial Position

 Expressed in US$ Thousands
		  31 December	 31 December
	 Notes	 2020	 2019
Current assets			 
Cash and short term deposit	 9	 17,193	 10,910
Accounts receivable:	 		

Donors - Net	 10.1	 21,567	 21,557
Employees	 10.2	 890	 1,045
CGIAR Centers	 10	 6,282	 5,323
Receivables from BIP	 10.1.1	 241	
Other receivables	 10.3	 2,201	 796
Prepayments	 11	 252	 60
Inventories	 12	 2,260	 2,241

Total current assets		  50,886	 41,932
Non-current assets			 
Property, plant and equipment	 13	 82,046	 89,415
Less accumulated depreciation	 13.1	 (55,205)	 (61,030)

Property, plant and equipment- Net		  26,841	 28,385
Intangible assets	 14	 1,203	 1,528
Less amortisation	 14	 (620)	 (627)
Intangible assets - Net		  583	 901
Deposit for shares in BIP	 15	 1,582	 1,582
Total non-current assets		  29,006	 30,868
Total assets		  79,892	 72,800
Liabilities and net assets	 		
Current liabilities	 		
Accounts payable:	 		

Donors	 16.1	 26,327	 18,437
Employees	 16.2	 10,055	 9,657
CGIAR Centers	 16		  213
Payable to BIP	 16		  320
Other payables	 16.3	 2,704	 2,865

Deferred income from donors	 18	 498	 603
Total current liabilities		  39,584	 32,095
Non-current liabilities			 
Employee benefit liability	 17	 2,228	 2,079
Deferred income from donors	 18	 759	 1,686
Total non-current liabilities		  2,987	 3,765
Total liabilities		  42,571	 35,860
Net assets			 
Undesignated	 19	 7,629	 7,166
Designated	 19	 29,689	 29, 689
Total unrestricted net assets		  37,318	 36,855
Temporary net assets - other comprehensive income	 3	 85
Total net Assets		  37,321	 36,940

Total liabilities and net assets		  79,892	 72,800
The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 44 form an integral part of these statements. The financial statements were approved by:

 Nteranya Sanginga	 Dennis Mulenga
 Director General	 Director of Finance	 15 April, 2021
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Statement of Financial Position

 Nteranya Sanginga	 Dennis Mulenga
 Director General	 Director of Finance	 15 April, 2021
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Surplus		  463	  566
Non-cash adjustments to reconcile surplus to net cashflows:
 Interest income	 5 	 (14)	  (7)
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 5	  48	  (15)
 Allowance for impairment loss	 10.1	 1,641	  1,582
 Depreciation of unrestricted assets	 13 	 1,162	  1,049
 Depreciation of restricted assets	 13	 315	  540
 Amortization of intangible assets	 14 	 339	  88
 Unrealized exchange difference		  (8)	 –
 Amortization of deferred income from donors	 18	 (315)	  (540)
 Employee benefit expense	 17.1 	 268	  94
		  3,899	  3,357
Decrease/ (increase) in assets
Accounts receivable:
 Donors	 10.1	 (1,651) 	 (1,674)
 Employees	 10.2 	 155	  (14)
 CGIAR Centers	 10	  (959) 	 (1,608)
 Receivable from BIP	 10.1.1	  (241)	  –
 Other receivables	 10.3 	 (1,506)	  (177)
 Prepayments	 11 	 (193)	  (57)
 Inventories	 12	  82	  (718)
 Other assets	 15	  – 	 (676)

Increase/ (decrease) in liability
Accounts payable:
 Donors	 16.1	  7,889	  4,656
 Employees	 16.2	  398	  665
 CGIAR Centers	 16 	 (213)	  80
 Payable to BIP	 16 	 (320) 	 320
 Others	 16.3	  (161)	  124
Employee benefit liability	 17	  (37)	  95
Deferred income from donors	 18	  498	  603
		  7,640	 4,976
Interest income 		  14	  7
Benefit paid 		  (164)	  (45)

Net cash used in operating activities 		  7,490 	 4,938

Investing activities
 Acquisition of unrestricted property, plant and equipment	 13 	 (661)	 (376)
 Acquisition of restricted property, plant and equipment	 13	 (498) 	 (603)
 Acquisition of intangible assets	 14	  – 	 (674)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment		  (48)	 15
Net cash used in investing activities		  (1,207) 	 (1,637)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent		  6,283 	 3,301
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January	 9 	 10,910 	 7,609
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 		  17,193 	 10,910

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Statement of Cash Flows

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Statement of Cash Flows

			 
	 Notes	 2020 	 2019 

 Expressed in US$ Thousands
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International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.	Corporate information
	 The financial statements of the International 

Institute of Tropical Agriculture ("IITA", 
"Institute" or "Center") for the year ended 31 
December 2020 were authorized for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Trustees on 26 April 2021.

	 The International Institute of Tropical Agriculture 
(IITA) is a private, autonomous, international 
in character, not-for-profit, tax free, scientific 
and educational institute chartered under the 
laws of Nigeria by Decree number 32 dated 
July 1967, to engage in research on resource 
and crop management and the improvement of 
selected food crops in sub-Saharan Africa. The 
registered office is located at IITA Campus, 
Ibadan, Nigeria.

	 IITA is one of the 15 member Centers of the 
CGIAR. CGIAR is an international association 
sponsored by the World Bank, the Food 
and Agriculture Organization of the United 
Nations, and the United Nations Development 
Programme. CGIAR research is dedicated 
to reducing rural poverty, increasing food 
security, improving human health and nutrition, 
and ensuring more sustainable management 
of natural resources.

2.	Adoption of IFRS standards
	 a) New standards, amendments, and 

interpretations adopted by the Institute

	 A number of new or amended standards 
became effective in the current year. Those that 
are applicable to the Institute are as follows:

i. IAS 8:8 New and amended IFRS Standards 
that are effective for the current year. 

	 Impact of the initial application of Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform amendments to 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7. In September 2019, 
the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 
IFRS 7) affected hedges during the period of 
uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging 
instruments affected by the current interest 
rate benchmarks are amended as a result of 
the ongoing interest rate benchmark reforms. 
This amendment has no impact on IITA as we 
do not do hedge financing.

ii. Impact of the initial application of Covid-
19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment 
to IFRS 16

	 In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to 
IFRS 16) that provides practical relief to lessees 
in accounting for rent concessions occurring 
as a direct consequence of COVID-19, by 
introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. 
The practical expedient permits a lessee to 
elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-
related rent concession is a lease modification. 
A lessee that makes this election shall account 
for any change in lease payments resulting 
from the COVID-19-related rent concession 
the same way it would account for the change 
applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a 
lease modification. The practical expedient 
applies only to rent concessions occurring as a 
direct consequence of COVID-19 and only if all 
the following conditions are met:

	 a) The change in lease payments results in 
revised consideration for the lease that is 
substantially the same as, or

	 less than, the consideration for the lease 
immediately preceding the change;

	 b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only 
payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021 (a rent concession meets this condition 
if it results in reduced lease payments on or 
before 30 June 2021 and increased lease 
payments that extend beyond 30 June 2021); 
and

c) There is no substantive change to other terms 
and conditions of the lease. This change has 
no impact on IITA. Though the impact of leases 
on IITA is negligible we have had no waivers of 
the same.

iii. Impact of the initial application of other 
new and amended IFRS Standards that are 
effective for the current year

	 IAS 8:28 In the current year, IITA has applied 
the below amendments to IFRS Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Board that 
are effective for an annual period that begins 
on or after 1 January 2020. Their adoption has 
not had any material impact on the disclosures 
or on the amounts reported in these financial 
statements.



10 11

Notes to the Financial Statements

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
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Amendments to References to the 
conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
	 IITA has adopted the amendments included in 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards for the first 
time in the current year. The amendments 
include consequential amendments to affected 
Standards so that they refer to the new 
Framework. Not all amendments, however, 
update those pronouncements with regard to 
references to and quotes from the Framework 
so that they refer to the revised Conceptual 
Framework. Some pronouncements are 
only updated to indicate which version of the 
Framework they are referencing to (the IASC 
Framework adopted by the IASB in 2001, the 
IASB Framework of 2010, or the new revised 
Framework of 2018) or to indicate that definitions 
in the Standard have not been updated with 
the new definitions developed in the revised 
Conceptual Framework. The Standards which 
are amended are IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 
14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 
12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32. 
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business 
of a business IITA has adopted the amendments 
to IFRS 3 for the first time in the current year. 
The amendments clarify that while businesses 
usually have outputs, outputs are not required 
for an integrated set of activities and assets 
to qualify as a business. To be considered 
a business an acquired set of activities and 
assets must include, at a minimum, an input and 
a substantive process that together significantly 
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

	 The amendments remove the assessment of 
whether market participants are capable of 
replacing any missing inputs or processes and 
continuing to produce outputs. The amendments 
also introduce additional guidance that helps to 
determine whether a substantive process has 
been acquired. The amendments introduce 
an optional concentration test that permits a 
simplified assessment of whether an acquired 
set of activities and assets is not a business. 
Under the optional concentration test, the 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a 
business if substantially all of the fair value 
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated 
in a single identifiable asset or group of 
similar assets. The amendments are applied 
prospectively to all business combinations and 

asset acquisitions for which the acquisition 
date is on or after 1 January 2020

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition 
of material
	 IITA has adopted the amendments to IAS 

1 and IAS 8 for the first time in the current 
year. The amendments make the definition 
of material in IAS 1 easier to understand 
and are not intended to alter the underlying 
concept of materiality in IFRS Standards. The 
concept of “obscuring” material information 
with immaterial information has been included 
as part of the new definition. The threshold for 
materiality influencing users has been changed 
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be 
expected to influence”. The definition of material 
in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to 
the definition of material in IAS 1. In addition, 
the IASB amended other Standards and the 
Conceptual Framework that contain a definition 
of “material” or refer to the term “material” to 
ensure consistency. This amendment has no 
impact on the on IITA as we do not do hedge 
financing.

	 Commentary: Entities are required to disclose 
in their financial statements the potential 
impact of new and revised IFRS Standards 
that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
The disclosures below reflect a cut-off date 
of 31 July 2020. The potential impact of the 
application of any new and revised IFRS 
Standard issued by the IASB after 31 July 
2020, but before the financial statements 
are issued should also be considered and 
disclosed. The impact of the application of the 
new and revised IFRS Standards (see below) 
is for illustrative purposes only. Entities should 
analyse the impact based on their specific facts 
and circumstances. At the date of authorisation 
of these financial statements, IITA has not 
applied the following new and revised IFRS 
Standards that have been issued but are not 
yet effective.

	 Commentary: The above statement should 
be tailored to be specific to the entity. Most 
jurisdictions have a mechanism for incorporating 
IFRS Standards into their financial reporting 
system. These mechanisms range from direct 
adoption of 'IFRS Standards as issued by the 
IASB', through adopting local standards that 
are 'equivalent to IFRS Standards', to the 
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extensive endorsement mechanism used in the 
European Union. The impact of the application 
of the new and revised IFRS Standards below 
is for illustrative purposes only. Entities should 
analyze the impact of these new or revised 
IFRS Standards on their financial statements 
based on their specific facts and circumstances 
and make appropriate disclosures.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
	 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or 

Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture

	 Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

	 Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework

	 Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use

	 Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – 
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

	 Annual Improvements to IFRS

	 Standards 2018-2020 Cycle

	 Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, 
and IAS 41 Agriculture

	 The directors do not expect that the adoption of 
the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of IITA in 
future periods, except as noted below:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
	 IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the 

recognition, measurement, presentation, 
and disclosure of insurance contracts and 
supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. 
IFRS 17 outlines a general model, which is 
modified for insurance contracts with direct 
participation features, described as the variable 
fee approach. The general model is simplified if 
certain criteria are met by measuring the liability 
for remaining coverage using the premium 
allocation approach. The general model uses 
current assumptions to estimate the amount, 
timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and it 
explicitly measures the cost of that uncertainty. It 
takes into account market interest rates and the 
impact of policyholders’ options and guarantees.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture
	 The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 

deal with situations where there is a sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the 
amendments state that gains or losses resulting 
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that do 
not contain a business in a transaction with an 
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for 
using the equity method, are recognized in the 
parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the 
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or 
joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting 
from the remeasurement of investments retained 
in any former subsidiary (that has become an 
associate or a joint venture that is accounted 
for using the equity method) to fair value are 
recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss 
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ 
interests in the new associate or joint venture. 
The effective date of the amendments has yet to 
be set by the Board; however, earlier application 
of the amendments is permitted. The directors 
of the Company anticipate that the application 
of these amendments may have an impact on 
the Group's consolidated financial statements in 
future periods should such transactions arise.

Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current
	 The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the 

presentation of liabilities as current or non-
current in the statement of financial position 
and not the amount or timing of recognition of 
any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the 
information disclosed about those items. The 
amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or non-current is based on 
rights that are in existence at the end of the 
reporting period, specify that classification is 
unaffected by expectations about whether an 
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement 
of a liability, explain that rights are in existence 
if covenants are complied with at the end of 
the reporting period, and introduce a definition 
of “settlement” to make clear that settlement 
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, 
equity instruments, other assets or services. 
The amendments are applied retrospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023, with early application permitted.
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Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework
	 The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it 

refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework 
instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add 
to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations 
within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies 
IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition 
date a present obligation exists as a result of 
past events. For a levy that would be within the 
scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies 
IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating 
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy 
has occurred by the acquisition date. Finally, 
the amendments add an explicit statement 
that an acquirer does not recognise contingent 
assets acquired in a business combination. 
The amendments are effective for business 
combinations for which the date of acquisition 
is on or after the beginning of the first annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 

	 Early application is permitted if an entity also 
applies all other updated references (published 
together with the updated Conceptual 
Framework) at the same time or earlier.

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and 
Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use
	 The amendments prohibit deducting from 

the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment any proceeds from selling items 
produced before that asset is available for use, 
i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. Consequently, an entity 
recognises such sales proceeds and related 
costs in profit or loss. The entity measures the 
cost of those items in accordance with IAS 
2 Inventories. The amendments also clarify 
the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is 
functioning properly’. IAS 16 now specifies 
this as assessing whether the technical and 
physical performance of the asset is such that 
it is capable of being used in the production or 
supply of goods or services, for rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes. If not presented 
separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income, the financial statements shall disclose 
the amounts of proceeds and cost included 
in profit or loss that relate to items produced 
that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary 

activities, and which line item(s) in the 
statement of comprehensive income include(s) 
such proceeds and cost. The amendments are 
applied retrospectively, but only to items of 
property, plant and equipment that are brought 
to the location and condition necessary for 
them to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management on or after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented in 
the financial statements in which the entity 
first applies the amendments. The entity shall 
recognize the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of retained earnings (or 
other component of equity, as appropriate) at 
the beginning of that earliest period presented.

	 The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, 
with early application permitted.

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous 
Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
	 The amendments specify that the “cost of 

fulfilling” a contract comprises the “costs that 
relate directly to the contract”. Costs that 
relate directly to a contract consist of both 
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract 
(examples would be direct labour or materials) 
and an allocation of other costs that relate 
directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would 
be the allocation of the depreciation charge for 
an item of property, plant and equipment used 
in fulfilling the contract). The amendments 
apply to contracts for which the entity has not 
yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which the entity 
first applies the amendments. Comparatives 
are not restated. Instead, the entity shall 
recognize the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings or 
other component of equity, as appropriate, at 
the date of initial application. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022, with early application 
permitted.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 
2018–2020
	 The Annual Improvements include amendments 

to four Standards. IFRS 1 First-time Adoption 
of International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The amendment provides additional relief to a 
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subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter 
later than its parent in respect of accounting 
for cumulative translation differences. As a 
result of the amendment, a subsidiary that 
uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a) can now 
also elect to measure cumulative translation 
differences for all foreign operations at the 
carrying amount that would be included in the 
parent’s consolidated financial statements, 
based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS 
Standards, if no adjustments were made for 
consolidation procedures and for the effects of 
the business combination in which the parent 
acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is 
available to an associate or joint venture that 
uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a). The 
amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
early application permitted.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
	 The amendment clarifies that in applying the “10 

per cent” test to assess whether to derecognize a 
financial liability, an entity includes only fees paid 
or received between the entity (the borrower) 
and the lender, including fees paid or received 
by either the entity or the lender on the other’s 
behalf. The amendment is applied prospectively 
to modifications and exchanges that occur 
on or after the date the entity first applies the 
amendment. The amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022, with early application permitted.

IFRS 16 Leases
	 The amendment removes the illustration of the 

reimbursement of leasehold improvements. As 
the amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an 
illustrative example, no effective date is stated.

IAS 41 Agriculture
	 The amendment removes the requirement 

in IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows 
for taxation when measuring fair value. This 
aligns the fair value measurement in IAS 41 
with the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement to use internally consistent 
cash flows and discount rates and enables 
preparers to determine whether to use pre-tax 
or post-tax cash flows and discount rates for 
the most appropriate fair value measurement. 
The amendment is applied prospectively, i.e. 
for fair value measurements on or after the 
date an entity initially applies the amendment.

	 The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
early application permitted.

Commentary: IAS 8:30 requires entities to give 
known or reasonably estimable information 
relevant to assessing the possible impact that 
the application of any new or revised IFRS 
Standard will have on the entity’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application. 
The regulatory requirements in the various 
jurisdictions may differ as to how detailed 
the disclosures need to be; some regulators 
may require both qualitative and quantitative 
information to be disclosed whereas others 
may consider that qualitative information 
(e.g., key areas that may be affected by the 
new or revised IFRS Standard) suffices in 
many circumstances. For this reason, relevant 
regulatory guidance should also be taken 
into account in preparing the disclosure. This 
applies to all new or revised IFRS Standards 
that have been issued but are not yet effective.

3 Significant accounting policies	
3.1 Basis of preparation
	 The financial statements of IITA have been 

prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

	 The financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis, except for the 
revaluation of certain properties and financial 
instruments that are measured at revalued 
amounts or fair values at the end of each 
reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies below. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration 
given in exchange for goods and services.

Going concern
	 Management has made an assessment of 

IITA’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Institute has the resources 
to continue in operations for the foreseeable 
future. Furthermore, management is not aware 
of any material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt upon the Institute’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. There is no 
indication that the donors will renege on their 
commitment to fulfil their grant obligations to 
IITA. We have also considered the effects of 
the Corona Virus pandemic on the finances 
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of the institute and we are of the view that 
there is no reason to believe that it will affect 
the organization’s ability to meet its obligations 
to all stakeholders. Management is in the 
process of engaging cooperating partners 
with a view to getting a full understanding of 
this. Therefore, the financial statements have 
continued to be prepared on the going concern 
basis.

3.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
	 The following are the significant accounting 

policies applied by IITA in preparing its financial 
statements:

	 I. Current versus non-current classification

	 IITA presents assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position based on current/
non-current classification. An asset is current 
when it is:

	 -	 Expected to be realized or intended 		
	 to be sold or consumed in the normal 		
	 operating cycle

	 -	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading

	 -	 Expected to be realised within twelve 		
	 months after the reporting period, or

	 -	 Cash and short-term deposits unless 		
	 restricted from being exchanged or used to 	
	 settle a liability for at least twelve months 	
	 after the reporting period

	 All other assets are classified as non-current.

	 A liability is current when:

	 -	 It is expected to be settled in the normal		
	 operating cycle

	 -	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

	 -	 It is due to be settled within twelve months	
	 after the reporting period, or

	 -	 There is no unconditional right to defer the	
	 settlement of the liability for at least twelve	
	 months after the reporting period

	 IITA classifies all other liabilities as non - current.

	 II Fair value measurement

	 The Institute has not measured financial 
instruments and non-financial assets at fair 
value at the statement of financial position 
date. Fair value related disclosures for financial 
assets are summarised in the following notes:

	 Accounting policy disclosures - Note 3

	 Disclosures for valuation methods, significant 
estimates and assumptions - Note 20

	 Quantitative disclosures of fair value 
measurement hierarchy - Note 20 Fair value 
is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either:

	
	 -	 In the principal market for the asset or liability

	 Or

-	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous 
market must be accessible by IITA.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial 
asset takes into account a market participant's 
ability to generate economic benefits from the 
asset’s highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would utilise 
the asset in its highest and best use.

	 IITA uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure 
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy. 
This is described, as follows, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

	 - Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market 
prices in active markets for identical assets 
or	 liabilities

	 - Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which 
the lowest level input that is significant to the 
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fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable

	 - Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, IITA 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and 
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 
fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

III. Revenue Recognition
	 Grant revenue comprises donations received 

from various sources. The main sources of 
donations are from CGIAR, Governments 
of different countries, Private Individuals, 
Charitable foundations, and Companies. The 
grants, whether restricted or unrestricted, 
are not recognized until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Institute has complied with 
the conditions attached to the grant and that 
the grant will be received. Restricted grants 
are recognized as revenue to the extent of 
expenses incurred.

Revenue is classified into two (2) streams:

-	 Restricted grants (including Government 
grants) are those received from a transfer of 
resources to the Institute in return for past or 
future compliance to the operating activities 
of the Institute. Restricted grants include 
Windows 1,2, and 3, and Bilateral.

-	 Unrestricted grants (including Government 
grants) are those received from unconditional 
transfers of cash or other assets to the Institute. 
The two streams are further analyzed into six 
(6) sub-categories:

	 CRP (CGIAR Research Program) window 1: In 
window 1, CGIAR determines the CRP to be 
executed and provides funds for the project. 
CGIAR identifies a lead center and participating 
partners with the competency required to 
execute the project and communicates to the 
lead center the project details and thereafter, 
funds are transferred to the lead center.

	 CRP (CGIAR Research Program) window 2: 
In window 2, the donor identifies a program 
or project it wishes to fund, the funds are 
made available to CGIAR. CGIAR identifies 
a lead center and participating partners with 
the competency required for executing the 

project and communicates to the lead center 
the project details and thereafter funds are 
transferred to the lead center.

	 CRP (CGIAR Research Program) window 3:

	 In window 3, the donor directly identifies the 
research center with a program it wishes to fund 
and remits the funds for the research through 
CGIAR funding window to the research center.

Bilateral funds
	 These are funds sent by the Donor to 

the identified research center without the 
involvement of CGIAR. 

Challenge programs
	 Challenge programs are programs initiated to 

take on global challenges with a wide range 
of research partners. These funds originate 
from the Challenge Program lead center to 
the identified research center with the required 
geographical presence and expertise. 

Non-CRP funds
	 These are strategic funded projects which are 

aligned to the strategic research framework 
(SRF) of CGIAR CRPs. 

	 The grants, whether restricted or unrestricted, 
are not recognized until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Center has complied with 
the conditions attached to the grant.

	 Unrestricted grants in currencies other than 
US dollars (US$) are recorded at exchange 
rates in effect at the time of receipt or, if 

	 outstanding as at December 31, at the 
exchange rate in effect at the year end.

	 Restricted grants in currencies other than US 
dollars (US$) with specific request to be paid 
in that currency as partner funds, are recorded 
as income and expenses at the exchange 
rate in effect at the time of payment.

Grants-in-kind
	 These are recorded at the fair value of the 

assets (or services) received or promised.

IV.	Foreign currencies
	 IITA’s financial statements are presented in 

US dollars (US$), which is also the Institute's 
functional currency. 
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Transactions and balances
	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 

recorded by IITA at their functional currency 
spot rates at the date the transaction first 
qualifies for recognition.

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
currency spot rates of exchange ruling at 
the reporting date. Differences arising on 
settlement or translation of monetary items are 
recognised in the statement of activities. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial transactions. 

V.	Government grants
	 Government grants are recognized when there 

is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received, and all attached conditions will 
be complied with. When the grant relates to 
an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the 
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are 
expensed. Where the grant relates to an asset, it 
is recognized as deferred income in the statement 
of financial position and transferred to statement 
of activities on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful lives of the related assets. When 
IITA receives non-monetary grants, the asset 
and the grant are recorded at nominal amount.

VI.	Cash and short-term deposits
	 Cash and short-term deposits in the statement 

of financial position comprise cash at banks 
and on hand and short-term deposits with a 
maturity of three months or less, which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. Cash and short-term deposits also 
comprise equivalents which are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are: i) readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash; and ii) 
invested for a period of 3 months or less, hence 
the risk of changes in value due to changes in 
interest rates are insignificant.

VII. Property, plant and equipment
	 Property, plant, and equipment are tangible 

goods that are held for use related to the 
main objective of the Center, including 
research activities and administrative and 
technical support activities; and are expected 

to be used during more than one accounting 
period.

	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such 
cost includes the cost of purchase, costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for use.

	 Property, plant, and equipment acquired 
through non-monetary grants are recognized 
at the nominal amount at the date of the grant. 

	 Such grants are presented in the statement 
of financial position as deferred income 
and are taken into account as revenue on a 
systematic and rational basis over the lifespan 
of the asset. Property, plant, and equipment 
acquired through monetary grants are 
recognized at cost at the date of acquisition.

	 All new facilities provided by host countries to 
the Center or built for the use of the Center, 
which will revert to the host country in the event 
the Center ceases operations, are recognized 
as assets. The land is recognised at nominal 
value and the buildings at historical cost.

	 Subsequent expenditures are added to the 
cost of the property, plant, and equipment 
only if the expenditure improves the condition 
of the asset beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance. All other subsequent 
expenditures are recognised as expenses of 
the period where incurred.

VII. Property, plant and equipment- Continued
	 Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 

basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows:

	 Land 	 Nil
Buildings 	 50 years
Infrastructure 	 40 years
Powerhouse 	 25 years
Laboratory and Scientific equipment 	 6 years
Furniture and equipment 	 6 years
Motor vehicles 	 5 years
Computer equipment 	 3 years

	 The land on which the headquarter is situated 
is a government grant which took the form of a 
transfer of a non-monetary asset, for the use of 
IITA. IITA has elected to record both the asset 
and grant at a nominal amount.
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	 For assets acquired with restricted funds, IITA 
depreciates the assets over the project life.

	 Depreciation begins when the asset is available 
for use. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of 
the date that the asset is classified as held for 
sale, and the date the asset is derecognized. 
The depreciation charge for each period is 
recognized in the statement of activities. 

	 An item of property, plant and equipment 
is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 
in the statement of activities precisely in other 
operating income when there is a gain and, in 
the management, and general expenses when 
there is a loss.

	 The residual values, useful lives and methods 
of depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed at each financial year end and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

VIII. Intangible assets
	 Intangible assets acquired separately are 

measured on initial recognition at cost. 
Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Internally generated intangible 
assets, excluding capitalised development 
costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is 
recognised in the statement of activities when 
it is incurred.

	 Intangible assets are subsequently measured 
using the cost model (cost less accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment 
losses if any).

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are 
assessed to be finite.

	 The useful lives of an intangible assets are 
allocated on a straight-line basis as shown 
below:

	 Computer software 			       3 years

	 Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
over their useful economic lives and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life are reviewed at least at the end 
of each reporting period. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by 
changing the amortisation period or method, 
as appropriate, and are treated as changes 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives 
is recognised in the management and general 
expenses in the statement of activities.

Research and development costs
	 Research costs are expensed as incurred. 

Development expenditures on an individual 
project are recognised as an intangible asset 
when the Institute can demonstrate:

	 •	 The technical feasibility of completing the 	
	 intangible asset so that it will be available 	
	 for use or sale

	 •	 Its intention to complete and its ability to 		
	 use or sell the asset

	 • How the asset will generate future 
economic benefits

	 •	 The availability of resources to complete 		
	 the asset

	 •	 The ability to measure reliably the 		
	 expenditure during development

	 Following initial recognition of the development 
expenditure as an asset, the cost model is 
applied requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 
of the asset begins when development is 
complete and the asset is available for use. It 
is amortised over the period of expected future 
benefit. During the period of development, the 
asset is tested for impairment annually.

IX.	 Inventories
	 Inventories are supplies consumed in the 

operations of the Institute. They are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of 
inventories comprises all costs of purchase and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition.

	 The cost of inventories is assigned using 
weighted average method.
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	 Inventory write down is recognized as an 
expense in the statement of activities. The 
amount of any reversal of previously written 
down Inventories arising from increase in net 
realisable value, is recognised as a reduction 
in the value of inventories recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the reversal 
occurs.

	 The Institute uses a symmetric movement with 
rates: (0%, 25%, 50% and 20%) method in 
determining the amount of inventory provision. 
Rates applicable to each class are subject to 
periodic review.

X.	Impairment of non - financial assets
	 IITA assesses at each reporting date whether 

there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Institute estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or Cash Generating Unit's 
(CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. It is determined for an individual 
asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount.

	 In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. In determining 
fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations 
are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted 
share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or 
other available fair value indicators.

	 A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in 
the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited 
so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor 
exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in 
the statement of activities. Their subsequent 
recognition and measurement will depend on 
their classification.

XI.	Financial instruments — initial recognition 
and subsequent measurement 

	 A financial instrument will be recognised 
in the statement of financial position when 
the Institute becomes party to contractual 
provisions of the instrument. At initial 
recognition, financial instruments are either 
measured at amortised cost or fair value 
through profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income (OCI). This is recognised less the 
costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
the financial liability. The fair value at initial 
recognition will be the transaction price 
unless there is evidence to show that it is not 
the case. "The above classification depends 
on both the contractual characteristics of 
the financial instruments and the business 
model adopted for their management, which 
is determined at the time of initial recognition. 
Financial assets that are subsequently 
measured at either amortized cost or debt 
instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss or OCI, are subject to provisions for 
impairment. The financial assets applicable 
to the Institute are:

i) cash and cash equivalents and 

ii) loans and receivables."

Subsequent measurement
	 Following the initial recognition of financial 

assets and liabilities, their subsequent 
measurement and accounting treatment 
depends on their classification though there 
are a few exceptions to this. Either financial 
assets and liabilities that classified as fair 
value through profit or losses and other 
comprehensive income are measured at 
fair value or financial assets and liabilities 
at amortised cost. Amortised cost will be 
calculated using the effective interest rate.

Financial assets at amortised cost
	 Financial assets are classified at amortized 

cost only if both of the following criteria are met: 
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	 1. The objective of the entity’s business 
model is to hold the asset in order to collect 
the	 contractual cash flows; and 

	 2. The contractual terms give rise on 
specified	 dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal outstanding: 

	 (i) Principal is the fair value of the financial	
asset at initial recognition. 

	 (ii) Interest consists of consideration for 
the	 time value of money, for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of 
time	and for other basic lending risks and 
costs, as well as a profit margin.

	 Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in finance income using the effective 
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit 
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) 
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. 
Impairment losses are presented as separate 
line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial asset, at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”)
	 Financial assets that are classified at fair 

value through profit or loss are initially 
measured at fair value and subsequently 
carried at fair value on the statement of 
financial position with all changes in fair 
value gains and losses and foreign exchange 
gains and losses, recognized in the income 
statement in the period in which they occur. 
Transaction costs on these financial assets 
are expensed in the income statement. In 
addition, a debt instrument that could meet 
amortized cost criteria can be designated 
and measured at FVTPL. Upon initial 
recognition if such designation significantly 
reduces or eliminates a measurement or 
recognition inconsistency, referred to as an 
“accounting mismatch”, which would arise 
from measuring assets or recognizing the 
gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets, at fair value through other 
comprehensive income(“FVOCI”)
	 Assets that are held for collection of contractual 

cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 

where the assets’ cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying 
amount are taken through OCI, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, 
interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. 
When the financial asset is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest 
income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income using the effective interest 
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) 
and impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the statement of profit or 
loss.

Impairment
	 "For IITA, and in accordance with IFRS 9, 

a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
is recognized on financial assets that are 
measured (i) at amortized cost (ii) at fair value 
through profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income.

	 The Institute assesses on a forward-looking 
basis the expected credit losses associated 
with its debt instruments carried at amortised 
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk."

Financial liabilities
	 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 

liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. 
"Other financial liabilities (including borrowings 
and trade and other payables) are measured at 
fair value at initial recognition and subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

	 The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a 
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shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

	 The Institute derecognises financial liabilities 
when and only when, the Institute’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss."

Renegotiated financial assets
	 Modifications occur when the contractual cash 

flows of a financial asset are renegotiated 
or otherwise modified. Some modifications 
result in derecognition of the existing asset 
and recognition of a new asset, while other 
modifications do not result in derecognition. 
Modifications that result in derecognition are 
considered to be substantial modifications. An 
example of these modifications will be when 
IITA renegotiates an agreement with the donors.

Write-offs
	 According to the IFRS 9, the gross carrying 

amount of a financial asset may be directly 
reduced when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovering the financial asset in its entirety or 
a portion of it. As such, IITA can write of the write 
all receivables that have reached stage 3. The 
Institute can also on an ad-hoc basis examine 
any financial assets for write off.

Cash and cash equivalents
	 Cash is a financial asset because it represents 

the medium of exchange and is therefore the 
basis on which all transactions are measured 
and recognised in the financial statements. 
Cash deposits in banks give IITA the right 
to receive cash or draw cheques or other 
instruments against a favourable balance. All 
cash and bank balances will be recognised 
at fair value which is the transaction price 
unless there are indications that it has been 
impaired. IITA maintains the bulk of its funds in 
in US Dollars which helps in mitigating against 
exchange risks against local currencies in 
countries where the Institute operates. 

Accounts receivable – Employees
	 After initial measurement, accounts receivable 

from employees are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised 

cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in the statement of 
activities. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the statement of activities.

Derecognition
	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised when:

	 -	 The rights to receive cash flows from the 	
	 asset have expired, or

	 -	 IITA has transferred its rights to receive 		
	 cash flows from the asset or has assumed 	
	 an obligation to pay the received cash flows 	
	 in full without material delay to a third party 	
	 under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and either

	 i.	 IITA has transferred substantially all the 		
	 risks and rewards of the asset, or

	 ii.	IITA has neither transferred nor retained 		
	 substantially all the risks and rewards of the 	
	 asset but has transferred control of the asset.

XI.	Financial instruments — initial recognition 
and subsequent measurement - Policy 
applicable prior to 1 January 2018

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives 
rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
	 Initial recognition and measurement
	 Financial assets are classified, at initial 

recognition, as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, available for sale 
financial assets, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. IITA only has loans and receivables.

	 All financial assets are recognised initially at 
fair value plus, in the case of assets not at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction 
costs that are attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. 
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Subsequent measurement
	 The subsequent measurement of financial 

assets depends on their classification as 
described below:

Accounts receivable – Donors
	 These are claims held against donors for the 

future receipt of money, goods, or services. 
Receivables due from donors can arise from 
unrestricted grants that are due as a receivable 
by the Center and amounts due from restricted 
grants that have been negotiated between a 
donor and the Center.

	 Unrestricted accounts receivable is recognized 
initially at fair value. Restricted grants are 
recognized and measured at cost. After 
initial recognition such accounts receivable is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

	 Accounts receivable Donors are classified as 
follows:

Unrestricted grants: Receivables from unrestricted 
grants are recognized in full in the period 
specified by the donor. 

Restricted grants: Receivables from restricted 
grants are recognized in accordance with the 
terms of the underlying contract. Restricted 
grants include projects financed by W1/W2, 
W3, and Bilateral funding.

Accounts receivable – Employees
	 After initial measurement, accounts receivable 

from employees are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in the statement of 
activities. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the statement of activities.

Derecognition
	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognised when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset	
have expired, or

- IITA has transferred its rights to receive 
cash	flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement, and either

	 i. IITA has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or

	 ii. IITA has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset but has transferred control of the asset.

Impairment of financial assets
	 Disclosures relating to impairment of financial 

assets are summarised in the following notes:

	 - Disclosures for significant assumptions - Note 4

	 - Account receivables - Note 10

	 IITA assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
An impairment exists if one or more events that 
has occurred since the initial recognition of the 
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’), has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence 
of impairment may include indications that the 
donor or a group of donors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, the probability 
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and where observable data 
indicates that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
	 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 

IITA first assesses whether impairment exists 
individually for financial assets. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is, or continues to 
be, recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

	 The amount of any impairment loss identified 
is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been 
incurred). The present value of the estimated 
future cash flows is discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate.

	 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
management and general expenses line in 
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the statement of activities. Interest income 
continues to be accrued on the reduced 
carrying amount using the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose 
of measuring the impairment loss. The interest 
income is recorded as part of other revenue 
and gains in the statement of activities.

	 Loans, together with the associated allowance 
are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery. If a write-off is later 
recovered, the recovery is credited to other 
operating income the statement of activities.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial 

recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and other financial 
liabilities.

	 Financial liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value. Financial liabilities include 
payables employees, CGIAR Centres and 
other payables. After initial recognition, taking 
into account the payment policy of the Center, 
account payables are measured at amortised 
cost which does not have significant differences 
with the fair value.

Derecognition
	 A financial liability is derecognised when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing 

	 inancial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in statement of 
activities.

Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

with the net amount reported in the statement 
of financial position only if there is a current 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right 
must not be contingent on future events and 

must be enforceable in the normal course of 
business and in the event of default, insolvency 
or bankruptcy of the Institute or counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets
Disclosures relating to impairment of financial 

assets are summarised in the following notes:

- Disclosures for significant assumptions- Note 3

- Account receivables- Note 10

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial 

recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and other financial 
liabilities.

	 Financial liabilities are recognised initially at 
fair value. Financial liabilities include payables 
employees, CGIAR Centers and other 
payables. 

	 After initial recognition, taking into account the 
payment policy of the Center, account payables 
are measured at amortised cost which does not 
have significant differences with the fair value.

XII. Employee benefits
Short - term benefits 
	 Short-term employee benefit obligations are 

measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided.

Post - employment benefit
Defined contribution plan

Pension
	 IITA operates a defined contribution pension 

plan. Fixed contributions are paid to a separate 
entity. Once contributions are paid, IITA has no 
further obligation to the employee. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution plans 
are recognized as personnel cost in statement 
of activities in the periods during which services 
are rendered by employees. Staff contributions 
to the scheme are funded through payroll 
deductions.

Defined benefit plan
Repatriation benefit
	 IITA provides repatriation benefits to its 

internationally recruited staff. These benefits 
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are payable on the return of the employee 
to his country of origin. The cost of providing 
benefits under the post retirement benefit plan is 
determined separately using the projected unit 
credit method. The benefit is discounted using 
the effective interest rate (EIR) the at the date of 
reporting. The benefit is amortised and recorded as 
a liability, the unwinding of the discount is recorded 
as an interest cost and the current service cost 
are recorded as personnel cost in the statement 
of activities. Re-measurements, comprising 
of actuarial gains and losses, are recognized 
immediately in the statement of financial 
position with a corresponding debit or credit to 
undesignated fund through other comprehensive 
income in the period in which the gains or losses 
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to 
the statement profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
Interest cost is calculated by applying the discount 
rate to the defined benefit liability. The Institute 
recognises the following changes in personnel 
cost under ‘management and general expenses 
in the statement of activities:

	 - Current service cost

	 - Interest cost

Other long-term employee benefits
Severance benefits

	 IITA pays severance benefits to its employees 
on the expiration of their respective contracts. 
The benefit is measured as the excess of 10% 
of gross emoluments over IITA contribution to 
the employee’s pension fund. 

XIII. Prepayments
	 Prepayments are payments made in advance 

for services to be enjoyed in future. The amount 
is initially capitalised in the reporting period in 
which the payment is made and subsequently 
amortised over the period in which the service 
is to be enjoyed.

XIV. Interest income
	 Interest income is recognised in the statement 

of activities when it is probable that economic 
benefits will flow to the Institute and that 
amount can be reliably measured.

XV. Deferred income – Donors
	 These include grants received from donors for 

which conditions are not yet met and funds 
received in advance for restricted grants.

	 Deferred income – Donors are classified as 
follows:

	 Unrestricted grants: are those received from 
the unconditional transfer of cash or other 
assets to the Center.

	 Restricted grants: are those received from a 
transfer of resources to the Center in return 
for future compliance relating to the operating 
activities of the Center. Restricted Grants 
include W1/W2, W3, and Bilateral projects.

XVI. Indirect Cost Recovery
	 The indirect cost recovery represents the 

overhead cost recovered from the restricted 
projects based on rates agreed and as stated 
in each project agreement with donors. 
Calculation of indirect cost recovery rate is 
based upon Section 10 of CGIAR Financial 
Guidelines Series, No. 5, “Cost Allocation 
Guidelines.

XVII. Net assets
	 Net assets comprise the residual interest in the 

Institute's assets after liabilities are deducted. 
They are classified as either undesignated or 
designated:

	 Undesignated net assets: Their use is not 
designated by IITA Management for specific 
purposes.

	 Designated net assets: Those that have been 
restricted by IITA as reserve for replacing 
property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and other activities or purposes.

4	 Significant accounting judgments, 
estimates and assumptions

	 The preparation of IITA’s financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying 
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. IITA has identified the following areas 
where significant estimates and 

	 assumptions are required, and where if actual 
results were to differ, may materially affect the 
financial position or financial results reported 
in future periods. Further information on each 
of these and how they impact the various 
accounting policies are described in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements.
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Judgements
	 No judgment has been applied by the 

management of IITA in the process of applying 
the accounting policies.

Estimates and assumptions
	 The key assumptions concerning the future and 

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are described below. IITA based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters 
available when the financial statements 
were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, 
however, may change due to market changes 
or circumstances arising that are beyond the 
control of IITA. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur.

Impairment of financial assets
	 The Institute reviews the estimation for impairment 

of receivable at the end of each reporting period 
and reflects the changes on a prospective basis.

	 Useful life of Property, Plant and Equipment and 
Intangible Assets

	 The estimation of the useful lives of assets is 
based on management’s judgement. Any material 
adjustment to the estimated useful lives of items 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets will have an impact on the carrying value 
of these items.

Defined benefit plan 
Repatriation benefit

	 The cost of the defined benefit plan namely: 
the repatriation benefit is determined using 
the projected unit credit method (PUCM) to 
determine the present value of the obligation 
at the end of each reporting period. The PUCM 
involves making various assumptions that may 
differ from actual developments in the future. 
These include the determination of the discount 
rate and contract renewal period. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its 
long-term nature, other long term employee 
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these 
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. 

	 The parameter most subject to change is the 
discount rate. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate to use, management's assumptions 
and yields on United States of America (USA) 
Treasury bills were used. 	 The assumptions 
used in estimating the obligation are:

	 - flight ticket increment rate

	 - the number of family members

	 - contract period
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5. Other gains and losses 
2020		  2019
$'000		  $'000

Interest Income - General	 14	 7
Gains and Losses from Sale of Fixed Assets	 (48)	 15
Interest Income - Staff	 7	 (4)

	 (26)	 19

6. Program-related expenses 
Program-related expenses are expenses incurred by main research, research support, 
training, and information services as described below: 
i)	 "Research programs: cover expenses on research for development in sub-Saharan 

Africa."
ii)	 Research support programs: include genetic resource and biometrics units, farm 

operations, plant growth facilities, post-harvest engineering, analytical laboratory, and 
research management. 

iii) 	 Training costs: include training offices, fellowships, workshops, seminars, allowances 
to trainees, and training-related travel. 

iv) 	 Information services: cover the costs of publication of annual reports and technical 
bulletins, translation and printing of various public information activities, and library 
services. 

Program-related expenses incurred as of 31 December are as follows: 

	 2020	 2019
	 $'000	 $'000

Research - programs and support	 84,237	 85,669
Training	 2,473	 3,623
Information services	 629	 261
	 87,339	 89,552

Represented by (per statement of activities):

	 2020	 2019
	 $'000	 $'000
Research expenses	 69,343	 72,354
CGIAR collaboration expenses	 5,348	 4,771
Non-CGIAR collaboration expenses	 12,648	 12,426

	  87,339 	 89,552 
 

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020
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7. Management and general expenses 
Management and general expenses in the accompanying statement of activity consist of: 

i) 	 General Administration: covers the costs of the Board of Trustees, Director General’s 
office, administration, internal audit, finance, human resources, personnel, and purchasing 
departments. 

ii) 	 General Operations: Include expenses on physical plant services, utilities, communications, 
security, catering, and general services. 

Management and general expenses incurred as of 31 December were as follows: 

	 2020	 2019
	 $'000	 $'000

General administration and operations 	 9,052 	 10,024 

8. Expenses and losses 
Classification of Expenses by nature 

Expressed in US$ Thousands 
31 December 2020 

	 Unrestricted	 Restricted CRPs 	 Restricted Non-CRPs	 Total
$'000	 $'000	 $'000	 $'000

Personnel cost	  11,708 	 21,846 	 6,911	 40,465
CGIAR collaboration	  –	 4,219 	 1,129	 5,348
Non-CGIAR collaboration	  –	 10,310	 2,337	 12,648
Supplies and services	  (4,431)	 16,468	  8,846	 20,884
Travel	  266	 2,134	  946	 3,345
Cost sharing percentage – CS 	 7 	 377	  446	  830
Depreciation/ Amortization	  1,502	 1,406 	 787	 3,695
Subtotal	 9,052	 56,759	  21,403	 87,215
Indirect cost recovery	  (9,198)	 7,278	 1,898	 (22)
Total expenses 	 (146)	 64,037	 23,301 	 87,192

31 December 2019
	 Unrestricted	 Restricted CRPs 	 Restricted Non-CRPs	 Total

$'000	 $'000	 $'000	 $’000
Personnel cost	  10,114	  23,504	 5,560	 39,178
CGIAR collaboration	  – 	 4,196	 575	 4,771
Non-CGIAR collaboration	  (95)	 11,424	 1,003	 12,331
Supplies and services	  (2,600)	 22,273	 13,179	 32,853
Travel	  621	 3,638	 1,324	 5,583
Cost sharing percentage - CSP	  909	  395	 455	 1,759
Depreciation/Amortization	  1,075	 515	 1,511	 3,101
Subtotal 	 10,024 	 65,944	 23,607	 99,576
Indirect cost recovery	 (10,100)	 8,613	  1,487	 –
Total expenses	 (76)	 74,557	  25,094	 99,576

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements
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		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $'000	 $'000
9. Cash and Cash equivalents
Cash on hand	 418	 490
Cash at bank	 16,775	 10,420
		  17,193	 10,910

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent consist of:

		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $'000	 $'000
Cash on hand	 418	 490
Cash at bank	 16,775	 10,420
		  17,193	 10,910

10. Accounts receivable

		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $'000	 $'000
Donors (10.1)	 21,567	 21,557
Employees (10.2)	 890	 1,045
CGIAR Centers	 6,282	 5,323
Receivable from BIP	 241	 –
Other receivables (10.3)	 2,201	 695
		  31,181	 28,620

10.1 Accounts receivable - Donors
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
Accounts receivable from donors consist of:
Unrestricted	 –	 –
CRP windows 1&2	 2,939	 3,012
CRP window 3	 2,049	 1,844
Bilateral	 9,010	 11,246
Non-CRP	 8,788	 6,784
Challenge programs	 422	 253
		  23,208	 23,139
Loss Allowance	 (1,641)	 (1,582)
		  21,567	 21,557

Account receivables from donors are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms stated in the contract. 
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At 31 December 2020, IITA carried out an impairment assessment on all outstanding receivables 
from donors using Expected Credit Loss (ECL) method in accordance with IFRS 9 and an amount of 
$1,641 was found to be impaired and provided for. As at 31 December 2019, Accounts receivables 
from donors with an initial carrying value of $1,582 were impaired and fully provided for. 

Movements in Loss Allowance
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Loss allowance	 1,582	 1,125
	 Amounts written off after	 59	 457
		  1,641	 1,582

Changes in loss allowances was recognised in management and general expenses 
in the statement of activities.
See Note 22 on credit risk of accounts receivables from donors, which states how 
management manages its receivables from donors.  

Due to the number and small values of our receivable balances coupled with 
diverse nature of our funders it is not possible for us to assess the expected loss 
on individual amounts. As such we use the weighted probability outcome when 
calculating effective interest rates. The other factor considered is the non-availability 
of forward-looking information on our funders until there is an event that give us 
information on the risk levels of the amounts carried in financial statement.	
	
In order to arrive at the weighted probability effective interest rate, we use last year’s 
written off amounts against the total amount due in order to arrive at the rates to apply.

Calculation of ECL Weighted Probability Rate
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Receivables written off in 2020 coming from 2019 	 992 	 1,650 
	 Receivables 	 22,590 	 22,919
 
	 Provision rate 	 4% 	 7%
 
	 Re-proposed Provision 	 1,349 	 1,650 
	 Provision under FG2 	 1,735 	 1,641

10.2 Accounts receivables - Employees
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000

Accounts receivable from employees consist of:

	 Staff loan	 850	 1,018
	 Children education advances	 24	 3
	 Staff salary advances	 16	 24
		  890	 1,045
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10.3 Accounts receivable - Others
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
	 As of December 31, accounts receivable: Others consist of:
	 Receivables from stations	  116	  695
	 Other receivables 	 10	  –
	 Advance payment to suppliers 	 2,075 	 101
 		  2,201	  796

11. Prepayments
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Prepaid expenses as at December 31 consist of:
	 Rent	 228	 50
	 Deposit	 24	 10
		  252	 60

12. Inventories
		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Inventories consist of:
	 Stores on hand	 3,115	 3,256
	 Allowance for obsolescence	 (855)	 (1,015)
		  2,260	 2,241

Movements in Allowance for obsolescence
In 2020: $855,000 (2019: $1,015,000) was recognised as expense for inventories carried at 
net realisable value. This is treated under management and general expenses in the Statement 
of Activities. In the current year, rates for obsolesce provision was adjusted to reflect current 
reality of inventory movement on which the rate estimates are based. 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment
a. Unrestricted – Center Funds

Land Total
Buildings & 

Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture/ 
Fixtures Automobiles

Motor Vehicles
Heavy Duty

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House

Capital
Work in 

Progress 

	 Expressed in US $ Thousands

Cost
At 1 January, 2019 	  2,980 	  47,849 	  17,558 	  6,912 	  162 	  5,347 	  2,747 	  387 	  83,942 
Additions 	  11 	  91 	  160 	  36 	  – 	  74 	  4 	  – 	  376 
Disposal 	  – 	  – 	  (21)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (21)
Reclassification 	  – 	  387 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (387)	  – 

At 31 Dec., 2019 	  2,991 	  48,327 	  17,697 	  6,948 	  162 	  5,421 	 2,751 	  - 	 84,297
 
Additions 	  21 	  (117)	  (62)	  (611)	  771 	  197 	  64 	  397 	  661 
Disposals 	  – 	  – 	  (5,093)	  (156)	  (8)	  (1,661)	  – 	  – 	  (6,918)

At 31st Dec. 2020 	  3,013 	  48,210 	  12,543 	  6,181 	  925 	  3,957 	 2,815 	  397 	 78,040

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January, 2019 	  – 	  26,192 	  17,099 	  6,755 	  159 	  5,302 	  1,665 	  – 	  57,172 
Charge for the Year 	  – 	  642 	  153 	  70 	  – 	  74 	  110 	  – 	  1,049 
Disposals 	  – 	  – 	  (21)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (21)

As at 31st Dec. 2019 	  – 	  26,834 	  17,231 	  6,825 	  159 	  5,376 	 1,775 	  – 	 58,200 
Charge for the Year 	  – 	  906 	  (32)	  (696)	  673 	  174 	  138 	  – 	  1,162 
Disposals 	  – 	  – 	  (5,092)	  (155)	  (7)	  (1,653)	  – 	  – 	  (6,906)

At 31 Dec, 2020 	  – 	  27,740 	  12,107 	  5,974 	  825 	  3,897 	 1,912 	  – 	 52,455 

 	  2,991 	  21,493 	  466 	  123 	  3 	  45 	  976 	  – 	 26,097 

 	  3,013 	  20,470 	  435 	  207 	  100 	  60 	  903 	  397 	 25,585 

Net Book Value as 
at 31st Dec. 2019
Net Book Value as 
at 31st Dec. 2020
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Land Total
Buildings & 

Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture/ 
Fixtures Automobiles

Motor Vehicles
Heavy Duty

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House

Capital
Work in 

Progress 

	 Expressed in US $ Thousands

Cost
At 1 January, 2019 	  – 	  2,069 	  808 	  1,455 	  – 	  183 	  – 	  – 	  4,515 
Adjustments 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Additions 	  – 	  – 	  73 	  491 	  – 	  39 	  – 	  – 	  603 

At 31 Dec, 2019 	  – 	  2,069 	  881 	  1,946 	  – 	  222 	  – 	  – 	  5,118 
Adjustments 	  – 	  – 	  8 	  (8)	  – 	  (8)	  – 	  – 	  (8)
Additions 	  – 	  – 	  16 	  469 	  – 	  13 	  – 	  – 	  498 
Reclassification 	  – 	  – 	  (31)	  31 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 
Disposals 	  – 	  (1,362)	  (153)	  (85)	  – 	  (3)	  – 	  – 	  (1,603)

At 31 Dec.2020 	  – 	  707 	  721 	  2,352 	  – 	  225 	  – 	  – 	  4,006 
Accumulated Depreciation	 – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 
At 1 January, 2019 	  – 	  182 	  689 	  1,260 	  – 	  158 	  – 	  – 	  2,289 
Charge for the Year 	  – 	  41 	  106 	  361 	  – 	  32 	  – 	  – 	  540 

As at 31 Dec; 2019 	  – 	  223 	  795 	  1,621 	  – 	  190 	  – 	  – 	  2,829 
Charge for the Year 	  – 	  35 	  (2)	  269 	  – 	  14 	  – 	  – 	  315 
Disposals 	  – 	  (163)	  (153)	  (78)	  – 	  (3)	  – 	  – 	  (396)

As at 31 Dec; 2020 	  – 	  94 	  640 	  1,813 	  – 	  201 	  – 	  – 	  2,748 
 	  – 	  1,846 	  86 	  325 	  – 	  32 	  – 	  – 	  2,289 

 	  – 	  612 	  81 	  540 	  – 	  24 	  – 	  – 	  1,257

Net Book Value as 
at 31st Dec. 2019
Net Book Value as 
at 31st Dec. 2020

b. Unrestricted – Center Funds
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Buildings &
Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture 
Fixtures

Motor 
Vehicles

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House Total

	 Expressed in US $ Thousands

	 Expressed in US $ Thousands

At 31 Dec. 2020	 3,013	 48,917	 13,264	 8,534	 925	 4,182	 2,815	 397	 82,046
At 31 Dec. 2019	 2,991	 50,396	 18,578	 8,894	 162	 5,643	 2,751	 0	 89,415

The total accumulated deprecation for both restricted and unrestricted assets are presented below:

The total net book value for both restricted and unrestricted assets are presented below:

The total cost for both restricted and unrestricted assets are presented below:

At 31 Dec. 2020 	 0	 27,834	 12,748	 7,787	 825	 4,097	 1,912	 0	 55,205
At 31 Dec. 2019 	 0	 27,058	 18,026	 8,446	 159	 5,566	 1,775	 0	 61,030

	 Expressed in US $ Thousands

At 31 Dec. 2020	 3,013	 21,082	 516	 747	 100	 85	 903	 397	 26,841
At 31 Dec. 2019	 2,991	 23,338	 552	 448	 3	 77	 976	 0	 28,385

Land Total
Buildings & 

Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture/ 
Fixtures Automobiles

Motor Vehicles
Heavy Duty

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House

Capital
Work in 

Progress 

Land Total
Buildings & 

Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture/ 
Fixtures Automobiles

Motor Vehicles
Heavy Duty

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House

Capital
Work in 

Progress 

Land Total
Buildings & 

Infrastructure

Lab./Scientific 
Equipment & 

Furniture/ 
Fixtures Automobiles

Motor Vehicles
Heavy Duty

Computer 
Equipment

Power 
House

Capital
Work in 

Progress 
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14. Intangible Assets

Cost 	 $’000
At 1 January 2019	  854 
Adjustment 	 25 
Additions 	 649 
Disposal 0
At 31 December 2019 	 1,528
Reclassification/Adjustment 	 (325)
GIT at 2019 Year End 	 (649)
Additions 	 1,070 
Disposal 	 (421)
At 31 December 2020 	 1,203
Amortization: 
At 1 January 2019 	 539 
Charge for the Year 	 87
At 31 December 2019 	 626
Reclassification/Adjustment 	 14
Charge for the Year 	 339 
Disposals 	 (360)
At 31 December 2020 	 619 
Net Book Value 
At 31 December 2020 	 583
At 31 December 2019 	 901

15. Deposit for shares in BIP
	 31 December	 31 December
	 2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
	 1,582	 1,582

This amounts relates to funds deposited into BIP as share capital awaiting approval 
authorization of increased share capital in BIP by regulatory authorities. BIP has been 
registered as a limited company with IITA as sole shareholder.

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020
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16. Accounts payable
	 31 December	 31 December
	 2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Accounts payables consist of:

Donors - Note 16.1	  26,327	  18,437
Employees – Note 16.2 	 10,055	  9,657
CGIAR centers	  – 	  213
Payable to BIP	  – 	 320
Other payables – Note 16.3	 2,704	  2,865
	 39,086	  31,492

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on demand.  
For explanations on the Institute’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 22 

16.1. Donors
Payables to donors as at December 31 consist of:
	 31 December	 31 December
	 2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Payables to donors consist of:

CRP Windows 1 & 2 - Exhibit V 	 799	  32
CRP Window 3 - Exhibit VI	  17,187 	 11,363
Bilateral - Exhibit VII	  1,454 	 3,503
Non-CRP Activities - Exhibit IX	  6,886 	 3,539
	 26,326	 18,437

16.2 Accounts payable - Employees
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Accounts payable to employees consist of:

Vacation benefits	  2,045	  1,715
Pension payable	  293	  337
Staff remuneration	  7,513	  7,407
	 9,851	  9,459

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Employee and other Taxes 	
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)

Withholding tax payable	 12	 -
Payroll taxes	  192	 198
Total 	  204	 198
Total	 10,055	 9,657

Staff remunerations consist of amounts due to IRS staff who receive their salaries through 
their IITA staff personal accounts awaiting instructions to transfer to their respective 
personal bank accounts.

16.3. Other payables 
Other accounts payable as at 31 December consist of: 
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
Financial liabilities	 ($’000)	 ($’000)

Accrued liabilities	 15	 39
Vendors	 2,689	 2,826
	 2,704	 2,865

17. Employee benefit liability
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Repatriation benefit (17.1)	 1,510	 1,324
Severance benefit	 718	 755
	 2,228	 2,079

17.1. IITA provides repatriation benefits to its internationally recruited staff. These benefits are 
payable on the return of the employee to his/ her return to their country of origin at the end 
of contract with IITA. The following tables summarize the components of net benefit expense 
recognized in the statement of activities and other comprehensive income. 
	 31 December 2020
	 $’000

Current service cost	 248
Interest cost	 19
Defined benefit expense	 268

	 31 December 2019
	 $'000
Current service cost	 66
Interest cost	 27
Defined benefit expense	 94
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17.1. Employee benefit liability - continued
Remeasurement losses recognized in other comprehensive income:
		  ($000)
31 December 2020		  82
31 December 2019		  101
The factor below contributed to the remeasurement losses on the repatriation benefit: 
Changes in assumptions 
31 December 2020		  82
31 December 2019		  101

Changes in the present value obligation reported in the statement of financial position are as follows: 
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Present value of obligation at the beginning	 1,324	 1,174
Recognised in statement of activities:
Interest cost	 19	 36
Current service cost 	 248	 237
Benefit paid 	 (164)	  (45)
Recognised in other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement gains	  82	  101
Present value of obligation at the end 	 1,510	 1,324

The key economic assumptions (per annum) used in determining the gratuity plan benefit
obligations for the repatriation benefit plan are shown below:
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 %	 %
Discount rate	 1.46	 2.31
Ticket fare growth rate	 5	 5

Repatriation benefit payable in the future was discounted using the interest rate on US 
treasury bills. Factors considered in the discounting include contract tenure of the employees 
and ticket prices.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption on the repatriation benefit as at 
31 December 2019 is as shown below:

Discount rate
	 1% Increase	 1% Decrease
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Impact on the defined benefit obligation	 (15)	 15

Ticket fare
	 1% Increase	 1% Decrease
	 $’000	 $’000
Impact on the defined benefit obligation	 (91)	 73

Sensitivity analysis has been performed using automated actuarial methods currently in use. 
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17.1 Employee benefit liability- Continued
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption on the repatriation benefit as at 
31 December 2019 is as shown below:

Discount rate
	 1% Increase	 1% Decrease

	 $’000	 $’000
Impact on the defined benefit obligation	 (13)	 13

Ticket fare
	 1% Increase	 1% Decrease
	 $’000	 $’000
Impact on the defined benefit obligation	 120	 (120)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates 
the impact on defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumption 
occurring at the end of the reporting period. The sensitivity analyses are based on a change 
in significant assumptions, keeping all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analyses 
may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely 
that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another. 
The Institute is committed towards ensuring that all obligations arising from the post-
employment benefit in the foreseeable future are settled.

18. Deferred income from donors
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
At 1 January	 2,289	 2,226
Deferred during the year	 498	 603
Released to the statement of activities 	 (1,530)	  (540)
At 31 December	 1,257	  2,289

	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Current	 498	 603
Non-current	  759 	 1,686
Others	 1,257	 2,289

Deferred income is raised when assets from restricted sources is capitalized and will be 
amortized over the economic useful life of the related asset(s). Amount deferred during the 
year is equivalent to the value of fixed assets procured from restricted funds in the year. It 
will be amortized over the useful life of the assets.

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020
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19. Net Assets 
Net assets are the residual interest in the Institute’s assets remaining after liabilities are deducted. 
These are classified as follows: 
(a) 	Undesignated net assets 
	 That part of net assets not designated by Institute’s management for specific purposes. 
(b) 	Designated net assets 
	 That part of net assets designated by Institute’s management for specific purposes. 
	 - Designation for future acquisition/replacement of property, plant, and equipment and 	 	
 	  intangible assets 

	 - Designation of net investment in property and equipment 
Portion of the unrestricted net assets designated to reflect net investment in property, plant, and 
equipment and intangible assets. 
The following is a summary of net assets for the year ended 31 December: 

	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Total undesignated	 7,629	 7,166
Designated:
Acquisition and replacement of property and equipment	  722	 (700)
Institutional stability and research for development programs	 1,000	 1,000
Net investment in intangible assets 	 1,126	 876
Net investment in property, plant and equipment	 26,841	  28,513
	 29,689	 29,689
Other comprehensive income	  3	 85
Total designated	 29,692	 29,774
Total net assets	 37,321	 36,940

20. Fair value measurement
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of IITA’s financial  
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair 
values: 
		  Carrying amount	 Fair 	 value
		  2020 	 2019	 2020 	 2019 
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Financial assets 
Accounts receivable - Employees staff loans	 521	 578	 510	 559

“The management assessed that cash and short-term deposits, accounts receivable (CGIAR Centers 
and others), accounts payable (CGIAR Centers and others) approximate their carrying amounts largely 
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of loans receivable from employees is included at the amount at which the instrument 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation 
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values: 

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020
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The fair value of the employee loans was determined using the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) model 
using discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The 
own non-performance risk as at 31 December 2019 was assessed to be insignificant. 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Institute’s financial assets 
and liabilities: 

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2020 and 31 
December 2019: 

	 Fair value measurement using: 

		  $’000 	 $’000 	 $’000 	 $’000 
Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed: 
Accounts receivable - Employees	 521	 –		  510	 –

31 December 2019 
Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed: 
Accounts receivable - Employees	 559	 –		  559	 –
 
During the reporting period ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2. 

21. Related party disclosures

Compensation of key management personnel 
	 31 December	 31 December
	  2020	 2019
	 ($’000)	 ($’000)
Short-term employee benefits	 6,558	 5,671
Repatriation benefits	 152	 157
Pension benefits	 1,273	 1,123
	 7,983 	 6,951 
 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an expense during the  
reporting period for key management personnel. 

Transactions with key management personnel 

Directors’ loan 
For all years presented, the loans given to the key management personnel have been disclosed 
below: 

		   2020	 2019
		   $’000 	 $’000 
Loans to directors 	 35 	 23

			   Quoted		
			   prices in 	 Significant	
			   active	 observable	 Significant
			   markets	 inputs	 unobservable
	31 December 2020	 Total	 (Level 1)	 (Level 2)	 inputs

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December, 2020
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22. Financial risk management policies and objectives
IITA has a robust risk management and mitigation strategy in place and it is managed by a risk 
management committee that reports to senior management. Risk management in the Institute has 
been cascaded to all levels of project management through training programs involving staff at all levels. 
IITA faces three main risks in relation to financial instruments, namely: credit risk, market risk (foreign 
currency risk), and liquidity risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Institute is exposed to credit risk from its operating 
activities (primarily for accounts receivable: donors) and from its financing activities, including deposits 
with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions, and other financial instruments. 

Account receivables: Donors and employees 
IITA’s main sources of funding are by way of grants from several local and international cooperating 
partners. IITA faces the risk of some of the funders failing or refusing to release funding that has 
already been committed to IITA. There are many reasons as to why funders may fail to meet their 
obligations some of them being: funders facing their own liquidity challenges, failure by IITA to meet its 
own contractual obligations, over expenditures, disagreements, and misunderstanding. IITA also grants 
loans and advances to staff for various activities. There is a risk that staff may resign from IITA without 
settling their loans. IITA mitigates this risk through the following measures: 

-	 Discouraging pre-financed projects
-	 Adhering to agreements with funding agencies
-	 Managing budgets well to reduce the incidents of over expenditures
-	 Regular reporting and feedback from sources of funding to reduce disagreements and
	 misunderstanding. 

The requirement for impairment is analyzed at each reporting date on an individual basis for donors. 
The calculation is based on the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 10. The 
Institute does not hold collateral as security. The Institute evaluates the concentration of risk with respect 
to donor receivables as low, as its donors are located in several jurisdictions and industries and operate 
in largely independent markets. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by IITA’s Treasury department 
in accordance with its policy. Investments of funds are made only with approved counterparties and 
within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by IITA’s 
management on an annual basis and may be updated throughout the year subject to the approval of the 
Management. The limits are set to minimize the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial 
loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments. 

The credit quality of financial assets is assessed by reference to external credit rating information about 
counterparty default rates. 
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		  31 December	 31 December
		  2020	 2019
	  	 $’000 	  $’000 
Cash and short-term deposits
A		   – 	 6,489
A+ 	 10,151	  –
B 		  1,782	 100
B-		  42	 176
B+	 	 1,775 	 2,006
BBB- 	 154 	 –
BB+	  –	 926
CC 	 1,136	 –
CCC 	 1,608 	 7
Unrated	  547 	 1,206
 		  17,195	  10,910 

Cash on hand has been excluded from this rating.	
Ratings for the banks were obtained from the Fitch ratings

Credit rating keys: 
A: A financial institution of good financial condition and strong capacity to meet its obligations as and when 

they fall due. Adverse changes in the environment (macroeconomic, political, and regulatory) will result 
in a medium increase in risk attributable to exposure to this financial institution. However, financial 
condition and ability to meet its obligations as and when they fall due should remain largely unchanged. 

AA: A financial institution of very good financial condition and a strong capacity to meet its obligations 
as and when they fall due. However, financial condition and ability to meet obligations as and 
when they fall due should remain strong.

B: A financial institution where the financial condition is weak, but obligations are still being met as 
and when they fall due as more than one weakness and may require external support, which, may 
not be assured. Adverse changes in the environment (macroeconomic, political, and regulatory) 
will increase risk significantly. 

BB: Financial condition is satisfactory and the ability to meet obligations as and when they fall 
due exists. Adverse changes in the environment (macroeconomic, political, and regulatory) will 
increase risk significantly. 

BBB: A financial institution of satisfactory financial condition and adequate financial capacity to meet 
its obligations as and when they fall due. It may have one major weakness, which, if addressed, 
should not impair its ability to meets obligations as and when they fall due. Adverse changes in 
the environment (macro-economic, political, and regulatory) will result in a medium increase in risk 
attributable to exposure to this financial institution. 

A + (plus) or - (minus) may be added to a rating. A plus added to a rating indicates that the rating may 
be raised. A minus means that the rating may be lowered. When no plus or minus is added to the 
rating, this means that the rating is unlikely to change. A positive or negative added to a rating is, 
therefore, a reflection of the rating outlook. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, 
currency risk, and other price risk such as equity price risk and commodity price risk. 
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IITA is only exposed to foreign currency risk. 

Foreign Currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. IITA operates in 13 field stations in Africa and Europe. The 
main operating and reporting currency is the US. dollars (US$). The bulk of its funding from international 
cooperating partners is received in US. dollars (US$). Each of the field stations where IITA operates has 
its unique economic challenges. Most of the stations in Africa are operating in high inflation environment 
with volatile exchange rates as a result of this, IITA is exposed to foreign currency risks. 

Through its normal operations, IITA is exposed to nineteen (19) currencies. To mitigate against volatility 
in foreign exchange fluctuations, IITA keeps the bulk of its funds in US. dollars (US$) and only 
releases smaller amounts in tranches to meet operational needs. The Institute’s exposure to foreign 
currency changes for all other currencies are not material. 

Liquidity Risk 
This is the risk that the Institute will not have enough funds to meet its obligation to pay implementing 
partners and suppliers of goods and services. IITA hedges against this by managing a tight budget 
processes and ensuring that only planned activities are carried out. 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Institute’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments: 

Year ended 31  
December 2020

On 
demand

Less than 3 
months

3 to 12 
years

1 to 5
years

Total

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Accounts payable
CGIAR Centers  –  –  –  –  –
Other payables  2,704  –  –  –  2,704 

Year ended 31  
December 2019

    
Accounts payable
CGIAR Centers 530  –  –  –  530 
Other payables  3552  –  –  – 3,552

23. Commitments and contingencies
At 31 December 2020, the Institute had no commitments to other parties other than what has been disclosed 
as owing. However, all contingencies which are relevant in assessing the Institute’s state of affairs have 
been taken into consideration in the preparation of these financial statements.

24. Events after the reporting period 
We have continued monitoring evens after the reporting period, and we can report that there are no 
events that have a material effect on the financial statements. This is despite the effects that COVID 
19 had on our operations in the year 2020. Our funders have continued to honour their obligations.
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25. Effects of COVID-19 on our finances
In April 2020 meeting, the Board noted revised Budget projected at $112.3 million expenditure; to be 
financed by $112.8 million. Thus, projecting a revised surplus of $0.500 million for 2020. However, due 
to COVID-19 pandemic, an Alternate Plan of 20% reduction in total budget projected a revised surplus of 
$0.400 million for 2020: from projected total expenditure and revenue of $89.8 million and $90.3 million, 
respectively.

To mitigate the effects of COVID on our budget we embarked discussions with existing donors reprofile 
our budgets and other efforts to raise additional funds. Based on additional approved/signed W3/Bilateral 
project contracts and updated W1-2 funding, the 2020 cost budget rose from $112.3 million (Board of 
Trustees - noted budget in Apr. 2020) to $120.5 million (in December 2020) - an increase of 7.3 percent 
or $8.2 million. 
The updated 2021 total expenditure budget is conservatively projected at US$138.8 million with 
revenue projected at $139.4 million.
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	 Expressed in US$ Thousands

	 2020			   PY
	 Funds	 Accounts	 Advance	 CY	  Grant
	 Available	 Receivable	 Payments 	 Grant	  2019
Unrestricted
BMZ, Germany	 –	 –	 –	 –	 295
Nigeria	 343	 –	 –	 343	 176
Total Unrestricted	 343	 –	 –	 343	 471

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Statement of Grant Revenue

for the year ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit I
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Exhibit II
Exhibit II. CGIAR Funds: Windows 1&2

PY 
Grant 
2019

	 Expressed in US$ Thousands

	 2020	 	
	  Funds	 Accounts	 Advance	 CY
	  Available	 Receivable	 Payments 	Grant
CGIAR Funds: Windows 1&2
23: Policies, Institutions & Markets	 286	 –		  (6)	 279	 139
14: Maize agri-food systems	 1,437	 452		  –	 1,889	 1,840
16: Roots, Tubers & Bananas 	 779	 98		  –	 877	 474
      agri-food system
16: Roots, Tubers & Bananas 	 2,192	 1,243		  –	 3,434	 4,128
      agri-food system
18: Grain Legumes & Dryland Cereals	 907	 229		  –	 1,136	 974
      agri-food system
21: Agriculture for Nutrition & Health	 1,389	 126		  –	 1,515	 1,620
22: Climate Change, agriculture 	 669	 –		  (366)	 303	 –
      and food security
22: Climate Change, agriculture 	 509	 –		  (421)	 88	 84
      and food security
22: Climate Change, agriculture	 49	    143	   	 –	 192	 176
      and food security
      CRP Gender	 112	 –		  –	 112	 –
33: Genebank platform (non-routine)	 1,905	 649		  –	 2,555	 3,296
32: Big Data in Agriculture	 18	 –		  (5)	 13	 54

Total CRP Windows 1 & 2 - Exhibit V	 10,252	 2,939		  (799)	 12,393	 12,786

1/ W1&2 funds provided by CRP Lead Center based on sub-agreement, outside Program Participant Agreement (PPA)

Exhibit III. CRP Window 3
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Exhibit II
Exhibit II. CGIAR Funds: Windows 1&2

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Statement of Grant Revenue

for the year ended 31 December, 2020

	 Expressed in US$ Thousands

	 2020			   PY
	  Funds	  Accounts	 Advance	 CY	 Grant
	  Available	 Receivable	 Payments 	 Grant	 2019

CRP Window 3
Austria 	 (61)	 61	 –	 –	 7
Belgium	 1,013	 –	 (168)	 845	 924
Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	 24,302	 –	 (10,378)	 13,925	 17,135
CIMMYT	 1,197	 22	 –	 1,218	 1,840
CIP 	 404	 87	 –	 492	 1,189
CIRAD 	 254	 –	 (18)	 236	 400
CGIAR 	 394	 –	 (14)	 379	 –
ICRISAT 	 (225)	 230	 –	 5	 433
ILRI	 (444)	 445	 –	 1	 278
International Fund for Agric. Dev. (IFAD)	 (822)	 1,139	 –	 317	 658
Japan	 92	 –	 (34)	 58	 14
United States Agency for Int’l Dev. 	 18,918	 –	 (6,574)	 12,344	 15,219
World Bank	 (1)	 1	 –	 –	 29
Nutritional International	 (37)	 64	 –	 27	 162

Total CRP Window 3 - Exhibit VI	 44,984	 2,049	 (17,187)	 29,846	 38,288

Exhibit III. CRP Window 3
Exhibit III

Exhibit I. Unrestricted Grants
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	 Expressed in US$ Thousands

	 2020			   PY
	  Funds	 Accounts	 Advance	 CY	 Grant
	  Available	 Receivable	 Payments 	 Grant	 2019
Bilateral / Challenge Programs
AGRA	 195	 236	 –	 431	 193
Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	 (44)	 47	 –	 3	 7
Catholic Relief Services (CRS)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
CIMMYT	 4	 33	 –	 38	 157
CIP	 23	 –	 (3)	 19	 –
Common Fund	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cornell University	 177	 1,952	 –	 2,129	 1,850
Deloitte Consulting LLP	 (42)	 1	 –	 (41)	 1,019
Food and Agriculture Organization	 (3)	 52	 –	 49	 58
GIZ	 64	 633	 –	 696	 952
Global Crop Diversity Trust (GCDT)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
ICRISAT	 1,478	 –	 (480)	 998	 809
Japan	 188	 249	 –	 437	 384
Netherlands	 (49)	 49	 –	 (0)	 (3)
Nigeria	 (3)	 3	 –	 0	 10
Norway	 3,317	 –	 (771)	 2,546	 2,365
Sweden	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –
United States Agency for Int’l Dev.	 50	 –	 (50)	 1	 0
United States Dept. of Agriculture	 308	 431	 –	 739	 1,594
Wageningen University	 (159)	 204	 –	 45	 1,830
Miscellaneous Projects	 3,562	 3,000	 –	 6,562	 6,300
Closed Projects	 (1,732)	 1,732	 –	 0	 0
IFPRI	 13	 –	 (5)	 9	 –
MEDA Tanzania	 630	 –	 (64)	 565	 596
MFA	 4,882	 –	 (80)	 4,802	 3,590
ETH	 483	 263	 –	 746	 359
EU	 26	 124	 –	 150	 219

Total Bilateral - Exhibit VII	 13,368	 9,010	 (1,454)	 20,924	 22,290

Total Challenge Programs - Exhibit VIII	 452	 422	 –	 874	 1,233

Total	 13,820	 9,432	 (1,454)	 21,798	 23,523

Total Non-CRP Activities - Exhibit IX	 21,401	 8,788	 (6,886)	 23,302	 25,055

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
Statement of Grant Revenue

for the year ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit IV. Bilateral Projects and Challenge Programs
Exhibit IV

Exhibit II. CGIAR Funds: Windows 1&2 Exhibit V. CRP Windows 1&2 Grants and ExpendituresExhibit I. Unrestricted Grants
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Exhibit IV. Bilateral Projects and Challenge ProgramsExhibit II. CGIAR Funds: Windows 1&2 Exhibit V. CRP Windows 1&2 Grants and Expenditures
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Exhibit VIII. Challenge Programs Pledges & Expenditure
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International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
CRP Expenditure Report by Natural Classification 

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit X

Expressed in US$ Thousands

CRP 14 - Maize Agri-Food Systems
Personnel Costs	 1,528	 2,351	 868	 4,746
CGIAR Collaborations cots	 –	 1,718	 75	 1,793
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 1,082	 441	 1,523
Supplies and Services	 48	 2,389	 738	 3,176
Operational Travel	 –	 166	 171	 337
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 29	 101	 130
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 49	 49

Total Direct Costs	 1,576	 7,736	 2,442	 11,753
Indirect Costs	 208	 1,213	 200	 1,620

Total Costs	 1,784	 8,949	 2,641	 13,374
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 1,784	 8,949	 2,641	 13,374
				  
CRP 14 - Maize Agri-Food Systems
(Fall Armyworm)
Personnel Costs	 17	 –	 –	 17
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Supplies and Services	 70	 –	 –	 70
Operational Travel	 7	 –	 –	 7
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 94	 –	 –	 94
Indirect Costs	 12	 –	 –	 12

Total Costs	 105	 –	 –	 105
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 105	 –	 –	 105

RP 16 - Roots, Tubers and Bananas
Agri-Food Systems (Non-Earmarked)				  
Personnel Costs	 1,842	 4,577	 2,303	 8,722
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 1,482	 93	 1,575
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 4,274	 616	 4,890
Supplies and Services	 139	 3,484	 2,210	 5,832
Operational Travel	 15	 544	 267	 826
Depreciation/Amortization	 8	 450	 108	 566
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 81	 81

Total Direct Costs	 2,003	 14,811	 5,677	 22,491
Indirect Costs	 264	 1,961	 743	 2,968

Total Costs	 2,267	 16,772	 6,420	 25,459
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 2,267	 16,772	 6,420	 25,459

	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  
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International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
CRP Expenditure Report by Natural Classification 

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit X

Expressed in US$ Thousands
	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  

CRP 16 - Roots, Tubers and Bananas
Agri-Food Systems (Earmarked)				  
Personnel Costs	 477	 –	 –	 477
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 36	 –	 –	 36
Supplies and Services	 642	 –	 –	 642
Operational Travel	 63	 –	 –	 63
Depreciation/Amortization	 2	 –	 –	 2
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 1,220	 –	 –	 1,220
Indirect Costs	 157	 –	 –	 157

Total Costs	 1,377	 –	 –	 1,377
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 1,377	 –	 –	 1,377

CRP 16 - Roots, Tubers and Bananas
Agri-Food Systems (Scaling)				  
Personnel Costs	 129	 –	 –	 129
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 10	 –	 –	 10
Other Collaboration Costs	 182	 –	 –	 182
Supplies and Services	 259	 –	 –	 259
Operational Travel	 26	 –	 –	 26
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 605	 –	 –	 605
Indirect Costs	 62	 –	 –	 62

Total Costs	 667	 –	 –	 667
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 667	 –	 –	 667

CRP 18 - Grain Legumes
Personnel Costs	 529	 652	 1,013	 2,194
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 131	 75	 206
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 222	 757	 979
Supplies and Services	 472	 873	 1,192	 2,537
Operational Travel	 2	 100	 182	 284
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 71	 187	 258
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 69	 69

Total Direct Costs	 1,004	 2,048	 3,474	 6,526
Indirect Costs	 132	 402	 248	 782

Total Costs	 1,136	 2,450	 3,722	 7,309
Deferred depreciation	         –	         –	          –	          –
Grand Total	 1,136	 2,450	 3,722	 7,309
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CRP 21 - Agriculture for Nutrition and Health
Agri-Food Systems	
Personnel Costs	 934	 583	 937	 2,453
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 32	 32
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 179	 313	 493
Supplies and Services	 363	 272	 784	 1,419
Operational Travel	 42	 60	 141	 243
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 78	 78
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 51	 51

Total Direct Costs	 1,339	 1,094	 2,336	 4,769
Indirect Costs	 176	 156	 251	 583

Total Costs	 1,515	 1,250	 2,587	 5,352
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 1,515	 1,250	 2,587	 5,352
				  
CRP 22 - Climate Change, Agriculture and 
Food Security (CCAFS) - Flagship 1
Personnel Costs	 233	 95	 1,648	 1,976
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 162	 162
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 61	 1,447	 1,508
Supplies and Services	 36	 24	 1,501	 1,513
Operational Travel	 2	 3	 273	 277
Depreciation/Amortization	 1	 –	 204	 205
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 116	 116

Total Direct Costs	 272	 136	 5,349	 5,756
Indirect Costs	 32	 22	 496	 549

Total Costs	 303	 157	 5,845	 6,306
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 303	 157	 5,845	 6,306

CRP 22 - Climate Change, Agriculture  
and Food Security (CCAFS) - Flagship P6
Personnel Costs	 65	 –	 –	 65
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Supplies and Services	 47	 –	 –	 47
Operational Travel	 2	 –	 –	 2
Depreciation/Amortization	 2	 –	 –	 2
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 116	 –	 –	 116
Indirect Costs	 15	 –	 –	 15

Total Costs	 131	 –	 –	 131
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 131	 –	 –	 131

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
CRP Expenditure Report by Natural Classification 

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit -

Expressed in US$ Thousands
	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  

Exhibit X
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Exhibit -

Expressed in US$ Thousands
	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  

CRP 22 - Climate Change, Agriculture  
and Food Security (CCAFS) - Flagship P57
Personnel Costs	 26	 –	 –	 26
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 21	 –	 –	 21
Supplies and Services	 29	 –	 –	 29
Operational Travel	 0	 –	 –	 0
Depreciation/Amortization	 1	 –	 –	 1
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 78	 –	 –	 78
Indirect Costs	 10	 –	 –	 10

Total Costs	 88	 –	 –	 88
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 88	 –	 –	 88

CRP 22 - Climate Change, Agriculture  
and Food Security (CCAFS) - Flagship P253
Personnel Costs	 2	 –	 –	 2
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 12	 –	 –	 12
Supplies and Services	 40	 –	 –	 40
Operational Travel	 –	 –	 –	 –
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 54	 –	 –	 54
Indirect Costs	 7	 –	 –	 7

Total Costs	 61	 –	 –	 61
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 61	 –	 –	 61

Exhibit X
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CRP 23 - Policies, Institutions and Markets
Personnel Costs	 217	 –	 2	 218
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Supplies and Services	 21	 –	 5	 26
Operational Travel	 9	 –	 3	 11
Depreciation/Amortization	 -	 -	 -	 -
Cost Sharing Percentage	 -	 -	 -	 -

Total Direct Costs	 247	 -	 9	 256
Indirect Costs	 33	 -	 -	 33

Total Costs	 279	 -	 9	 288
Deferred depreciation	 -	 -	 -	 -

Grand Total	 279	 -	 9	 288

CRP 32 - Big Data in Agriculture
Personnel Costs	 5	 –	 44	 49
CGIAR CollaboratCosts	 –	 –	 67	 67
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 353	 353
Supplies and Services	 4	 –	 19	 23
Operational Travel	 2	 –	 2	 5
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 2	 2
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 10	 10

Total Direct Costs	 11	 –	 497	 508
Indirect Costs	 1	 –	 2	 3

Total Costs	 13	 –	 498	 511
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 13	 –	 498	 511

CRP 33 – Genebank Platform
Personnel Costs	 530	 –	 27	 557
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 192	 2	 195
Supplies and Services	 533	 40	 37	 610
Operational Travel	 33	 –	 –	 33
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 1	 1

Total Direct Costs	 1,097	 233	 67	 1,397
Indirect Costs	 256	 35	 8	 299

Total Costs	 1,353	 268	 75	 1,696
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 1,353	 268	 75	 1,696

International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
CRP Expenditure Report by Natural Classification 

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Exhibit -

Expressed in US$ Thousands
	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  

Exhibit X
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Expressed in US$ Thousands
	 W1&2	 W3	 Bilateral	 Total	  

Exhibit X

CRP 33 - Genebank Platform  
(Sub-Agreement)
Personnel Costs	 215	 –	 –	 215
CGIAR CollaboratCosts	 375	 –	 –	 375
Other Collaboration Costs	 119	 –	 –	 119
Supplies and Services	 149	 –	 –	 149
Operational Travel	 19	 –	 –	 19
				  
Depreciation/Amortization	 162	 –	 –	 162
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 1,040	 –	 –	 1,040
Indirect Costs	 162	 –	 –	 162

Total Costs	 1,201	 –	 –	 1,201
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 1,201	 –	 –	 1,201

Gender
Personnel Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
CGIAR Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Other Collaboration Costs	 –	 –	 –	 –
Supplies and Services	 97	 –	 –	 97
Operational Travel	 –	 –	 –	 –
Depreciation/Amortization	 –	 –	 –	 –
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 –	 –

Total Direct Costs	 97	 –	 –	 97
Indirect Costs	 15	 –	 –	 15

Total Costs	 112	 –	 –	 112
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 112	 –	 –	 112

Total CRP - W 1 & 2, W 3 & Bilateral
Personnel Costs	 6,748	 8,258	 6,840	 21,846
CGIAR CollaboratCosts	 385	 3,331	 503	 4,219
Other Collaboration Costs	 370	 6,012	 3,929	 10,310
Supplies and Services	 2,949	 7,035	 6,485	 16,468
Operational Travel	 222	 872	 1,039	 2,134
Depreciation/Amortization	 176	 551	 679	 1,406
Cost Sharing Percentage	 –	 –	 377	 377

Total Direct Costs	 10,850	 26,058	 19,851	 56,759
Indirect Costs	 1,542	 3,788	 1,947	 7,278

Total Costs	 12,393	 29,846	 21,798	 64,037
Deferred depreciation	 –	 –	 –	 –

Grand Total	 12,393	 29,846	 21,798	 64,037
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Windows 1 & 2

CRP 14 - Maize Agri-Food Systems	
Opening Balance	 (482)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 1,919
Less disbursements:	 (1,889)
Closing Balance	 (452)

	

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 16 - Roots, Tubers and Bananas Agri-Food Systems (Non-Earmarked)	
Opening Balance	 (931)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 3,893
Less disbursements:	 (4,311)
Closing Balance	 (1,349)

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 18 - Grain Legumes	
Opening Balance	 (651)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 1,558
Less disbursements:	 (1,136)
Closing Balance	 (229)

	

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 21 - Agriculture for Nutrition and Health Agri-Food Systems	
Opening Balance	 (138)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 1,481
Less disbursements:	 (1,515)
Closing Balance	 (173)

	

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 22 - Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS)	
Opening Balance	 28
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 1,200
Less disbursements:	 (583)
Closing Balance	 645

	

 Expressed in US$ Thousands
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Windows 1 & 2

CRP 23 - Policies, Institutions and Markets	
Opening Balance	 (4)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 290
Less disbursements:	 (279)
Closing Balance	 7

	

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 32 - Big Data in Agriculture	
Opening Balance	 (24)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 42
Less disbursements:	 (13)
Closing Balance	 5

	

Windows 1 & 2

CRP 33 - Genebank Platform	
Opening Balance	 (835)
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 2,740
Less disbursements:	 (2,554)
Closing Balance	 (649)

	

Windows 1 & 2

Gender	
Opening Balance	 -
Add: Cash Receipts from Lead Center	 112
Less disbursements:	 (112)
Closing Balance	 -

Exhibit --I
International Institute of Tropical Agriculture

CRP W1&2 Funding Report
for the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Expressed in US$ Thousands
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	  Expressed in US$ Thousands

Exhibit XVI. Schedule of Direct and Indirect Costs Rates

	 2020	 2019	
Expenses	
Research Expenses	 60,167	 72,354
CGIAR Collaboration Expenses	 5,348	 4,771
NON-CGIAR Collaboration Expenses	 12,648	 12,426
Management and General Expenses	 9,052	 10,024

Total	 87,215	 99,575

Partners Management Cost	
Management cost for partners is limited to 4% on non-CGIAR collaboration partnership 
payments, and computed as of 31 December were as follows:

General Admin Expenses on Partners Management	  506	 497
	

Computation of Indirect Cost Rate
 	 2020 	 2019 	  

	 In-house	 Partner	 Total		  In-house	 Partner	 Total

Gen & Admin Expenses	 9,052 – 506	 506	 9052	 10,024 – 497	 497	 10,024
Research Expenses	 60,167	 12648	 60,167+12,648	 72,354	 12,426	 72,354+12,426

Indirect Cost Rate	 14.20%	 4%	 12.43%		  13.17%	 4%	 11.82%

Indirect Cost Rate…1/	 16.20%		  14.43%		  15.17%		  13.82%

1/ Includes 2 percent system administrative costs on bilateral projects.
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Acronyms and Abbreviations

aBi Trust	 Agribusiness Initiative Trust
A4NH	 Agriculture for Improved Nutrition and Health
AATF	 African Agricultural Technology Foundation
ADA	 Austrian Development Agency
AfDB 	 African Development Bank
AGRA	 Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa
ANPEJ	 L’ Agence Nationale pour la Promotion de I’Emploi des Jeunes, Republique du 	
	 Senegal
AWF	 African Wildlife Foundation 
BATN	 British American Tobacco Nigeria Foundation
BECOD	 le Bureau d’Etudes et Conseil en Développement intégré 
BMZ/GIZ	 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit
BMGF	 Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
CAPEF	 Chamber of Agriculture, Fisheries, Livestock and Forestry of Cameroon 
CARE	 CARE International in Cameroon
CCAFS	 Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security
CFC	 Common Fund for Commodities
CGIAR	 Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research
CFFRC	 Crops for the Future Research Centre
CIAT	 Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical
CIFOR 	 Centre for International Forestry Research
CIMMYT	 Centro Internacional de Mejoramiento de Maiz y Trigo
CIP	 Centro Internacional de la Papa
CORAF/WECARD	 Consel Ouest et Centre African pour la Recherche et le Development Agricule / 	
	 West and Central African Council for Agricultural Research and Development  
COSA	 Committee on Sustainability Assessment
CSP	 Cost Sharing Percentage
CRI-Ghana	 Crop Research Institute - Ghana
CRP	 CGIAR Research Program
CRS	 Catholic Relief Services
CTA	 Technical Centre for Agriculture and Rural Cooperation
DAP	 Australian Government - Direct Aid Program
DAPP	 Development Aid from People to People in Zambia 
DCI - Ireland 	 Development Cooperation Ireland - Department of Foreign Affairs, Ireland (Irish Aid)
DDPSC	 Donald Danforth Plant Science Centre
DIOBASS	 La Plate forme Diobass au Kivu
DGDC	 Directorate General for Development Co-operation
DGIS	 Directorate General for International Cooperation Of The Netherlands	
EIB	 Excellence in Breeding
EMBRAPA	 Empresas Publicas de Medellin
EU	 European Union
FAO	 Food and Agriculture Organization
FAU	 Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg	
FH	 Food for the Hungry International
FIRCA	 Le Fonds Interprofessionel pour la Recherche et le Conseil Agricole
FMARD 	 Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, Nigeria
GCDT	 Global Crop Diversity Trust
GIZ	 Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit
GU	 University of Gothenburg	
HPlus	 HarvestPlus
HRNS	 Hanns R. Neumann Stiftung Africa
HELVETAS	 HELVETAS Swiss Inter co-operation
IDH	 IDH- the sustainable trade initiative
IDS	 Institute of Development Studies, University of Dar es Salaam
IITA	 International Institute of Tropical Agriculture
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IIAM	 Instituto de Investigacao Agraria de Mocambique
ICART	 International Center for Advanced Research and Training, Bukavu, DRC
icipe	 International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology
ICRAF	 World Agroforestry Centre - formerly International Center for Research in 		
	 Agroforestry, ICRAF
ICRISAT	 International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics
IFAD	 International Fund for Agricultural Development
IFPRI	 International Food Policy Research Institute
ILRI	 International Livestock Research Institute
IRAD	 Institute of Agricultural Research for Development
IRDP	 Institute of Rural Development Planning, Dodoma-Tanzania
ISABU	 Institut des Sciences Agronomiques du Burundi 
ISTRC	 International Society for Tropical Root Crops - Africa Branch (ISTRC-AB)
ITC	 International Trade Center
JIRCAS	 Japan International Research Center for Agricultural Science
JRSBDF	 J.R.S. Biodiversity Foundation
KU Leuven	 Katholieke Universiteit, Leuven
LUND	 Lund University
MAFSC	 Ministry of Agriculture, Food Security and Cooperatives, Tanzania	
MARD	 Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, DRC (Ministere de L’Agriculture et 	
	 du developpement Rural - MINAGRIDER, DRC) 
MEDA Tanzania	 MEDA Economic Development Associates
MoFA	 Ministry of Agriculture, Upper East Region, Ghana
MINADER	 Ministry of Agriculture And rural Development Yaounde - Ministere De   		
	 L’agriculture Et Du Developpement Rural
MPAE	 Ministère auprès de la présidence en charge de l’agriculture et de l’élevage, 		
	 Madagascar
MPJESC	 Ministere de la Promotion de la Jeunesse, de I’Emploi des Jeunes et du Service 	
	 Civique
MSU	 Michigan State University
NESTEC	 Nestle (NESTLE-SWITZERLAND)
NORAD	 Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation	
NRI	 Natural Resources Institute
PIA	 Program Implementation Agreement
PIM	 Policies, institutions, and markets for enabling agricultural incomes for the poor
PIRAM	 Le Programme Intégré de Réhabilitation de l’Agriculture dans la Province du 		
	 Maniema
PNDHD	 PROGRAMME NATIONAL DE DEVELOPPEMENT HUMAIN DURABLE 
PNDP	 National Community-Driven Development Programme 
PPA 	 Program Participant Agreement
PRILAKS	 Primlaks Nigeria Limited
PSMNR	 Programme for Sustainable Management of Natural Resources
PSSUB	 Pennysylvania State University
PURDUE	 PURDUE University
QUB	 Queen’s University Belfast
QUT 	 Queensland University of Technology
RTB	 Roots, tubers and bananas for Food Security and Income
SDC	 Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation
SLU	 Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
SNV	 Organisation Néerlandais de Développement 
SWITZ	 Elephant Vert
TJCFML	 TJ Cassava Flour Mills Limited 
TUA	 Tokyo University of Agriculture
TSL	 Sainsbury Laboratory


